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Under the Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the “Programme”) described in this base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”), Unibail-Rodamco SE
(“Unibail-Rodamco”), Rodamco Europe Finance B.V. (“Rodamco Europe Finance”) and Rodamco Sverige AB (“Rodamco Sverige” and, together with Unibail-
Rodamco and Rodamco Europe Finance, the “Issuers” and each, in relation to Notes issued by it, an “Issuer”), subject to compliance with all relevant laws,
regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the “Notes”) irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed (other than in the case
of Notes issued by Unibail-Rodamco) by Unibail-Rodamco (in such capacity, the “Guarantor” and such guaranteed Notes, the “Guaranteed Notes”). The
aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed Euro 15,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) unless the amount of the
Programme is increased following the date hereof.

This Base Prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”), constitutes a separate base prospectus in respect of each Issuer for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive
2003/71/EC, as amended by Directive 2010/73/EC (the “Prospectus Directive”). Any Notes issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Base
Prospectus are issued subject to the provisions herein. This does not affect any Notes already issued. Application has been made to the Commission de
surveillance du secteur financier (the “CSSF”) in Luxembourg in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 relating to
prospectuses for securities, as amended (the “Luxembourg Prospectus Act”) for approval of this prospectus as a Base Prospectus. Application has also been
made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under this Programme to be admitted to the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the
“Official List”) and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market. References in this Base Prospectus to the Notes being
“listed” and all related references shall mean that the Notes have been admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s
regulated market. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC on Markets in Financial
Instruments appearing on the list of regulated markets published by the European Securities and Markets Authority (each such market being a “Regulated
Market”). Application may also be made to the competent authority of any other Member State of the European Economic Area (“EEA”) for Notes issued under the
Programme to be listed and admitted to trading on any Regulated Market in such Member State. The Issuer may also issue Notes under the Programme that are
not listed on any stock exchange or Regulated Market. The relevant Final Terms (as defined below) in respect of each issue of Notes will specify whether such
Notes will be listed and, if so, the relevant Regulated Market or stock exchange(s).

By approving this Base Prospectus the Commission Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF” gives no undertaking as to the economic or financial
opportuneness of the transaction or the quality and solvency of the Issuer or Guarantor in line with the provisions of Article 7(7) of the Luxembourg Law dated 10
July 2005 on prospectuses for securities.

Notes will be in such denomination(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be €1,000 in respect
of Notes issued by Unibail-Rodamco and not less than €100,000 in respect of the other Issuers, and if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro,
the equivalent amount in such currency at the issue date, or such higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant specified currency.

Each Series (as defined in “General Description of the Programme”) of Notes will be represented on issue by a temporary global note (each a “temporary Global
Note”) or a permanent global note (each a “permanent Global Note” and, together with a temporary Global Note, “Global Notes”) without coupons attached. If the
Global Notes are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note form (“New Global Notes” or “NGNs”) they may be intended to be eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and the Global Notes will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a common
safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”).
Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form (“Classic Global Notes” or “CGNs”) may (a) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and (b) in the
case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through Euroclear France S.A. (“Euroclear France”) on the issue date with Euroclear France, acting as central
depository and (c) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
or delivered outside a clearing system, be deposited as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined in “General Description of the Programme”).
Interests in a temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a permanent Global Note on or after the Exchange Date (as defined
herein), upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership. The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and
definitive Notes are described in “Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form”.

The Programme has been rated A by Standard & Poor’'s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (“S&P”), and A+ by Fitch Ratings Ltd
(“Fitch”). Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating
applicable to the Programme. Whether or not a rating in relation to any Notes will be treated as having been issued by a credit rating agency established in the
European Union and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 (the “CRA Regulation”), will be disclosed in
the relevant Final Terms and, if the credit rating agency is registered under the CRA Regulation, the Final Terms shall specify that such credit rating agency is
included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European Securities and Market Authority on its website (http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-
registered-and-certified-CRAS) in accordance with the CRA Regulation. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory
purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation. Each of S&P and Fitch
is established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. The issue price, interest (if any) payable, the aggregate nominal amount and other
terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to each Tranche (as defined under “General Description of the Programme”) of Notes to be issued
under the Programme will be determined by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, where applicable, and the Relevant Dealer(s) based on the prevailing market
conditions at the time of the issue of such Notes and will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Prospective Investors should have regard to the factors described under the section “Risk Factors” in the Base Prospectus before deciding to invest in
any Notes issued under the Programme.

Arranger for the Programme
Bank of America Merrill Lynch International, Paris Branch

Dealers
Barclays BofA Merrill Lynch
BNP PARIBAS Crédit Agricole CIB
Handelsbanken Capital Markets HSBC
ING Morgan Stanley
Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking The Royal Bank of Scotland

The date of this Base Prospectus is 29 July 2016
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Responsibility Statement

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (the “Responsible Persons”), having taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case, confirms that the information contained in this Base Prospectus with respect to it
and it and its subsidiaries taken as a whole (Unibail-Rodamco and its subsidiaries taken as a whole being
referred to as the “Unibail-Rodamco Group”) and the Notes in the context of the issue and offering of such
Notes is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its
import. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base
Prospectus accordingly.

This Base Prospectus (together with any supplements hereto (each a “Supplement” and together the
“Supplements”) comprises a separate base prospectus for each Issuer for the purposes of the Prospectus
Directive and for the purpose of giving information with regard to each of the Issuers and to the Guarantor and
its consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole (the “Unibail-Rodamco Consolidated Group”) and the Notes
which, according to the particular nature of each such Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) and the Notes,
is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial
position, profit and losses and prospects of the relevant Issuer and (where applicable) the Guarantor.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below may
apply, any offer of Notes in any member state of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the
Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a
prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant
Member State of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus may only do
so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for any Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) or any of
the Dealers to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a
prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (i) if a
prospectus for such offer has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or,
where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that
Relevant Member State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive,
provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by final terms which specify (x) that
offers may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member
State, (y) such offer is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in
such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and (z) that the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the
purpose of such offer. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, none of the Issuer, the
Guarantor (where applicable) or the Dealers has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of
Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) or the
Dealers to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by
reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”’).

This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been published.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those
contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of the Issuers, the
Guarantor (where applicable) or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (as defined in “Summary’). Neither the
delivery of this Base Prospectus nor any offering, sale or delivery of any Notes made in connection herewith
shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) or the Unibail-Rodamco Group since the date hereof or the
date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented, or that there has
been no adverse change in the financial position of the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) or the
Unibail-Rodamco Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most
recently amended or supplemented, or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is
correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the

document containing the same.
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THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND THE OFFERING OR SALE OF THE NOTES IN
CERTAIN JURISDICTIONS MAY BE RESTRICTED BY LAW. PERSONS INTO WHOSE POSSESSION THIS
BASE PROSPECTUS COMES ARE REQUIRED BY THE ISSUERS, THE GUARANTOR (WHERE
APPLICABLE), THE DEALERS AND THE ARRANGER TO INFORM THEMSELVES ABOUT AND TO
OBSERVE ANY SUCH RESTRICTION. THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEE HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL
NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“SECURITIES ACT”) AND INCLUDE NOTES THAT ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS.
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED WITHIN
THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN
THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED, AND REGULATIONS THEREUNDER).
FOR A DESCRIPTION OF CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS ON OFFERS AND SALES OF NOTES AND ON
DISTRIBUTION OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS, SEE “SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE”.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the
Issuers, the Guarantor (where applicable) or the Dealers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accepts any responsibility for the
contents of this Base Prospectus, or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger or
a Dealer or on its behalf in connection with any Issuer or (where applicable) the Guarantor or the issue or
offering of the Notes. The Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in
tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might have in respect of this Base Prospectus
or any such statement. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide
the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any Issuer,
the Guarantor (where applicable), the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any
other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for
itself the relevance of the information contained in this Base Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be
based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to
review the financial condition or affairs of any Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) or the Unibail-Rodamco
Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus, nor to advise any investor or
potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in “General Description of the Programme”) of
Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as stabilising manager(s) in the applicable Final Terms (the
“Stabilising Manager(s)”) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot
Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher
than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s)
(or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) will undertake stabilisation action. Any
stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of
the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but such
action must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes
and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-
allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of
any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “€’,
“‘EURQ”, “Euro” or “euro” are to the single currency of the participating Member States of the European Union,
references to “U.S.$”, “$” or “U.S. dollars” are to the lawful currency of the United States of America,
references to “€”, “pounds sterling” and “Sterling” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom,
references to “SEK” or “Swedish Krona” are to the legal currency of Sweden and references to “CNY’,
“‘Chinese Yuan”, “‘RMB” or “Renminbi” are to the Chinese Yuan Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”).

Any websites included in this Base Prospectus are for information purposes only and do not form any part of
the Base Prospectus.
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This summary is only provided for purposes of the issue by Unibail-Rodamco of Notes (as defined
below) of a denomination of less than €100,000 which are offered to the public or admitted to trading on
a regulated market of the EEA. References in this section to “the Issuer” shall be construed as
references to “Unibail-Rodamco” only. The issue specific summary relating to this type of Notes will be
annexed to the relevant Final Terms and will comprise (i) the information below with respect to the
summary of the Base Prospectus and (ii) the information below included in the items subject to
completion.

SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as “Elements”. These Elements are numbered in
Sections A-E (A.1-E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and
Unibail-Rodamco. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the
numbering sequence of the Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and
the Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding such Element. In this case a short
description of the Element is included in the summary with a mention of “Not Applicable”.

Section A - Introduction and warnings

Al

General
disclaimer
regarding the
summary

This summary must be read as an introduction to the base prospectus
dated 29 July 2016 (the “Base Prospectus”). Any decision to invest in the
Notes should be based on a consideration by any investor of the Base
Prospectus as a whole. Where a claim relating to information contained in
the Base Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff may, under the
national legislation of the Member State of the European Economic Area
(the “EEA”) where the claim is brought, be required, to bear the costs of
translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.
Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the
summary, including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is
misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other
parts of the Base Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together
with the other parts of the Base Prospectus, key information in order to aid
investors when considering whether to invest in the Notes.

A.2

Information
regarding
consent by
the Issuer to
the use of the
Prospectus

[In the context of any offer of Notes in any of the Member States in which
the Base Prospectus has been passported from time to time (the “Public
Offer Jurisdictions”) that is not within an exemption from the requirement
to publish a prospectus under the Directive 2003/71/EC as amended
(“Prospectus Directive”), (a “Public Offer”), the Issuer consents to the
use of the Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms (together, the
“Prospectus”) in connection with a Public Offer of any Notes during [offer
period for the issue to be specified here] (the “Offer Period”) and in [e]

by:

(1) [names of specific financial intermediaries listed in the final terms]
[conditions under which the financial intermediaries are authorised to
make a public offer] ; [or]

(2) [any financial intermediary which satisfies the following conditions: (a)
acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
guidance of any applicable regulatory bodies (the “Rules”), from time to
time including, without limitation and in each case, Rules relating to both
the appropriateness or suitability of any investment in the Notes by any
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person and disclosure to any potential investor; (b) complies with the
restrictions set out under “Subscription and Sale” in the Base Prospectus
which would apply as if it were a dealer appointed in relation to the
Programme (as defined below) or for a specific issue (a “Dealer”); (c)
ensures that any fee (and any commissions, rebates or benefits of any
kind) received or paid by that financial intermediary in relation to the offer
or sale of the Notes does not violate the Rules and is fully and clearly
disclosed to investors or potential investors; (d) holds all licences,
consents, approvals and permissions required in connection with
solicitation of interest in, or offers or sales of, the Notes under the Rules;
(e) retains investor identification records for at least the minimum period
required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, and to the
extent permitted by the Rules, make such records available to the relevant
Dealer(s) and the Issuer or directly to the appropriate authorities with
jurisdiction over the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer(s) in order to enable
the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer(s) to comply with anti-money
laundering, anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know vyour client” rules
applying to the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer(s); (f) does not, directly
or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealer(s) to breach any Rule
or any requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent
in any jurisdiction; and (g) satisfies [specify further conditions in the
relevant Final Terms] (in each case an “Authorised Offeror”). None of
the Dealers or the Issuer shall have any obligation to ensure that an
Authorised Offeror complies with applicable laws and regulations and
shall therefore have no liability in this respect.]

[The Issuer accepts responsibility, in the Public Offer Jurisdiction[s], for
the content of the Prospectus in relation to any person (an “Investor”) in
such Public Offer Jurisdiction[s] to whom an offer of any Notes is made by
any Authorised Offeror and where the offer is made during the period for
which that consent is given. However, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer
has any responsibility for any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror,
including compliance by an Authorised Offeror with applicable conduct of
business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities
law requirements in relation to such offer.]

[The consent referred to above relates to Offer Periods (if any) ending no
later than the date falling 12 months from the date of the approval of the
Base Prospectus by the CSSF.]

[An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an
Authorised Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of the Notes to an
Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with
any terms and other arrangements in place between such
Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as to price
allocations and settlement arrangements (the “Terms and Conditions
of the Non-exempt Offer”). The Issuer will not be a party to any such
arrangements with Investors (other than Dealers) in connection with
the offer or sale of the Notes and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus
and any Final Terms will not contain such information. The Terms
and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be provided to
Investors by that Authorised Offeror at the time of the Non-exempt
Offer. Neither the Issuer nor any of the Dealers or other Authorised
Offerors has any responsibility or liability for such information.]/[Not
Applicable. There is no public offering of Notes and no consent has been
given.]]




Section B — Issuer

B.1 The legal and | Unibail-Rodamco SE (“Unibail-Rodamco” or the “Issuer”).
commercial
name of the
Issuer
B.2 The domicile | Unibail-Rodamco is a European public limited liability company domiciled and
and legal incorporated in France (Societas Europaea or SE) with a Supervisory Board and a
form of the Management Board incorporated under the laws of France and is governed by (i) the
Issuer, the provisions of the European Council Regulation 2001/2157/EC of 8 October 2001
legislation applicable to European Companies and that of the European Council Directive
under which 2001/86/EC of 8 October 2001 supplementing the Statute for a European Company
the Issuer with regard to the involvement of employees, (ii) the provisions of French law relating to
operates and | European Companies, as well as for all other matters partially covered or not covered
its country of | by the SE Regulation and (iii) the current laws and regulations of France applicable to a
incorporation | société anonyme.
B.4b Description Not Applicable. There are no particular trends indicated by the Issuer.
of any known
trends
affecting the
Issuer and
the industries
in which it
operates
B.5 A description | The Issuer is an operating company and the parent company of a group of subsidiaries
of the active in the property sector in continental Europe.
Issuer’s The group Unibail-Rodamco was formed in July 2007, following the exchange offer and
Group and its | announced merger of France-based property company Unibail Holding and Dutch real
position estate group Rodamco Europe N.V. Further to this combination and the combination of
within the the convention and exhibition businesses of Chambre de Commerce et d’Industrie de
Group Paris and Unibail-Rodamco in January 2008, the scope of consolidation of Unibail-
Rodamco as at 31 December 2015 included 298 companies fully consolidated in 12
countries. In the framework of the Squeeze out proceedings under Dutch law initiated
on 14 December 2007, the Enterprise Chamber of the Court of Appeal in Amsterdam
on 17 May 2011, set the price of the 660,562 remaining Rodamco Europe shares. As of
9 June 2011 the Company holds 100 per cent. of the share capital of Rodamco Europe
NV.
B.9 Profit Not Applicable. The Issuer has not produced a profit forecast or estimate.
forecast or
estimate
B.10 Qualification Not Applicable. There are no qualifications in the Issuer's consolidated annual

s in the
auditors’
report

financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.




Section B — Issuer

B.12

Selected
historical key
financial
information

No material
adverse
change
statement

Significant
change
statement

Selected key financial information relating to the Issuer:

(In million As at 30 As at 30 As at 31 As at 31
Euros) June 2016 | June December | December
2015 2015 2014

Portfolio 39,299 35,699 37,755 34,576

valuation

Total 19,768 17,169 19,239 16,933

shareholders’

equity
For the For the For the For the
interim interim year year ended
period period ended 31 | 31
ended 30 ended 30 | December | December
June 2016 | June 2015 2014

2015

Net rental

income (by

division)

-Retall 643 582 1,177 1,192

-Offices 84 84 170 172

-Convention 53 59 105 100

& Exhibition

Net rental 781 725 1,453 1,465

income

Result on 1,050 851 1,834 1,408

disposal,

valuation

movements

and

impairment

of goodwill

Net result 1,285 1,024 2,334 1,671

(owners of

the parent)

of which 575 528 1,030 1,068

recurring

result

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31

December 2015.

[Not applicable/there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position

of the Issuer since 30 June 2016.]




Section B — Issuer

B.13 Recent Not Applicable. The Issuer considers that no event relevant to the evaluation of its
material solvency has taken place since the publication of its last interim or annual financial
events statements.
relevant to
the
evaluation of
the Issuer’s
solvency

B.14 Extent to See Element B.5 for the Group and the Issuers' position within the Group.
which the The organisational chart below shows the Unibail-Rodamco Group structure on 30
Issuer is June 2016:
dependent
upon other
entities
within the

UNIBAIL-
cubmancsanecy il Ui commerces QEDfcesubscinio Bl 11 [llcodamcosurope il VAL
owned by Unibail- an_d_llts_ . : subsidiaries LSE T and its
Rodameco subsidiaries . subsidiaries <ubsidiaries

The Issuer is the parent company of a group of subsidiaries and therefore depends in

part on the financial and trading position of its principal subsidiaries.

B.15 Principal In accordance with article 2 of the Articles of Association of the Issuer, the corporate
activities of purpose of the Issuer in France and abroad, is:
the Issuer - investment through the acquisition, development, construction, ownership of land,

buildings, property assets and rights, and the fitting out of property complexes,
with a view to renting them out;

- the management, rental, leasing, divestment or exchange of the above assets,
either directly or through taking investments or ownership interests, or by creating
partnerships, companies or consortia;

- more generally, any financial, securities or property transactions directly or
indirectly connected with the foregoing object or likely to facilitate its achievement;

- acquiring, owning or divesting of investments in any French or foreign legal entities
with an activity directly or indirectly linked to the corporate object of the company
or which would favour its development.

B.16 Extent to Not Applicable. On 30 June 2016, none of Unibail-Rodamco’s shareholders had
which the declared holdings of more than 10 per cent. of the issued share capital. The main
Issuer is known investors, with holdings of between 4 per cent. and 10 per cent., include APG,
directly or Natixis Asset Management and Northern Cross.
indirectly
owned or
controlled




Section B — Issuer

B.17 Credit ratings
assigned to
the Issuer or
its debt
securities

The Programme has been rated A by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of
The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. (“S&P”), and A+ by Fitch Ratings Ltd (“Fitch”), which
are established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 on credit ratings agencies (the “CRA Regulation”), as amended by
Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011, and included in the list of credit rating agencies
registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European
Securities and Markets Authority’s website (www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-
and-certified-CRASs) as of the date of the Base Prospectus.

[Not Applicable. The Issuer and the Notes are not rated.] Notes issued under the
Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will
not necessarily be the same as the rating applicable to the Programme. A rating is not
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension,
change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.*

Credit ratings: [Not Applicable. The Issuer and the Notes are not rated. /The
Notes to be issued [have been/are expected to be] rated:

[S&P: [

[Moody's: [*]

[Fitch Ratings: [11]

! The two preceding paragrapgs shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
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Section C - Securities

rights attached to,
and the ranking
and the limitations
of, the Notes

Cl Type, class and The Notes are [Fixed Rate]/[Floating Rate]/[Fixed to Floating Rate]/[Zero
identification Coupon] Notes.
number of the
Notes The ISIN code of the Notes is: [e].
The common code of the Notes is: [e].

C.2 Currencies Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives,
Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the
relevant Dealers, including euro.?

The currency of the Notes is: [e]
C5 Description of any | Not Applicable. There is no restriction on the free transferability of the Notes.
restrictions on the
free transferability
of the Notes
C.8 Description of the Rights attached to the Notes

e Redenomination

Notes issued in the currency of any Member State of the European Union
which patrticipates in the third stage of European Economic and Monetary
Union may be redenominated into euro.
e Negative pledge

The Issuer will not, and will ensure that none of its Principal Subsidiaries
will, create or permit to subsist any Security Interest upon the whole or any
part of its assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any Relevant
Debt or any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Debt unless,
at the same time or prior thereto, the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes
are rateably and equally secured therewith or benefit from a guarantee or
indemnity in substantially identical terms thereto except, in the case of any
entity which becomes a Principal Subsidiary of the Issuer (through
acquisition or otherwise) or which is merged into the Issuer or into any of the
Issuer's Principal Subsidiaries or any other Subsidiary of the Issuer and as a
result of which such Subsidiary becomes a Principal Subsidiary, for any
Security Interest existing on or over any present or future assets or
revenues of such entity on the date on which it becomes a Principal
Subsidiary or is merged into the Issuer or a Principal Subsidiary or any such
other Subsidiary of the Issuer (including the subsequent renewal of such
Security Interest) or in respect of which a binding agreement to create it
exists provided such Security Interest was not created in contemplation of or
in connection with it becoming a Principal Subsidiary of the Issuer or being
so merged.

For the purposes of these Conditions:
“Principal Subsidiary” means, at any relevant time, a Subsidiary of Unibail-
Rodamco:

- whose Value represents not less than 7 per cent. of the total
Value of Unibail-Rodamco.

For the purposes of this definition and the definition of “Excluded

% This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
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Subsidiary”, “Value” means (A) with respect to any entity fully or
proportionally consolidated by Unibail-Rodamco, the revalued value (as
defined below) of Unibail-Rodamco’s assets, (B) with respect to any entity
consolidated under the equity method by Unibail-Rodamco, the value of
such entity’s equity, calculated on the basis of the revalued value of such
entity’s assets, in accordance with the accounting principles adopted by
Unibail-Rodamco for its financial statements for the most recent financial
year and in proportion to the stake held by Unibail-Rodamco, and (C) with
respect to Unibail-Rodamco, the total Value, determined in accordance with
(A) and (B) above, of all assets and of all entities in which Unibail-Rodamco
holds, directly or indirectly, an equity interest as they appear in the latest
published audited consolidated balance sheet of Unibail-Rodamco. The
‘revalued value” of an asset for the purpose of this definition means the
value of that asset determined by reference to valuations provided by
independent appraisers for real estate assets and included in the latest
published audited accounts (on a consolidated basis if such accounts are
prepared) of Unibail-Rodamco or the relevant Subsidiary, as the case may
be, as the value of that asset.
In the event that, for any reason, the calculations of the Value of a
Subsidiary or Unibail-Rodamco are not available after the close of any
financial year at a time when it is necessary to determine whether a
Subsidiary is a Principal Subsidiary, “Principal Subsidiary” shall mean, with
respect to such year, a Subsidiary of Unibail-Rodamco whose operating
income (or, where the Subsidiary in question prepares consolidated
accounts, whose consolidated operating income) attributable to Unibail-
Rodamco represents not less than 7 per cent. of the consolidated operating
income of Unibail-Rodamco, all as calculated by reference to the then latest
audited accounts (or consolidated accounts, as the case may be) of such
Subsidiary and the then latest audited consolidated accounts of Unibail-
Rodamco and its consolidated Subsidiaries; or

- to which is transferred all or substantially all the assets and

undertakings of a Subsidiary which, immediately prior to such
transfer, is a Principal Subsidiary.

“Relevant Debt” means any present or future indebtedness in the form of or
represented by bonds, notes (obligations), other securities (titres financiers,
as referred to in Article L.211-1 Il of the French Code monétaire et financier
(but excluding securities referred to in paragraphs II-1 and 1I-3 of such
Article and copies exécutoires a ordre)), which are or are capable of being
quoted, admitted to trading or ordinarily dealt in on any regulated market.

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, lien, charge, pledge or other form
of security interest (a sOreté réelle).

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any person or entity at any time, any
other person or entity (whether or not now existing) that is controlled directly
or indirectly, or more than 50 per cent. of whose issued share capital (or
equivalent) is held or owned, by such person or entity and/or any of such
person or entity’s subsidiaries at such time. For a person or entity to be
“‘controlled” by another person or entity means that such other person or
entity holds or owns, either directly or indirectly, a percentage of the share
capital of such person or entity which entitles it to exercise a majority of
voting rights at the general assemblies of such person or entity.

e Events of Default

The Notes contain events of default (such as non-payment, breach of other
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obligations, cross-default, insolvency, illegality and cessation of business)
relating to the Issuer; the cross-default and insolvency events of default will
also apply to Principal Subsidiaries but will exclude the subsidiaries of the
Issuer in respect to which there is no contracutal recourse against Unibail-
Rodamco or any other Subsidiary.

* Withholding tax

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect
of the Notes issued by the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and
without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed by or within France or any authority therein or thereof
having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by
law.

e Governing law
English law.
e Substitution of the Issuer

The Issuer (subject to certain conditions) may substitute for itself as principal
debtor under the Notes, any of its Subsidiaries, provided that, in all cases,
the relevant Notes, Receipts, Coupons, Talons and Deed of Covenant shall
be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Issuer by means of a
deed poll.

Ranking
e Status of the Notes

The Notes issued under the Programme will be unsubordinated and
unsecured obligations of the Issuer.

Limitation of the rights

e Prescription
The Notes, Receipts and Coupons will become void unless presented for
payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years
(in the case of interest) after the date on which such payment first becomes
due.

C.9

Interest, maturity
and redemption
provisions, yield
and representation
of the holders of
Notes

Please also refer to the information provided in Element C.8 above.

e |Interest periods and interest rates

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable interest
rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant
for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes
to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period.®

Interest Commencement Date: [Specify/Issue Date]

e Fixed Rate Notes*

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on [specifiy the date or dates in each
year].?
The length of the interest period is [e].

Rate of Interest: [e] per cent. Fixed Rate

e Floating Rate Notes®

% This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
* Delete this item if not applicable.
® This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
® This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
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Floating Rate Notes will bear interest set separately for each Series as
follows:
0] on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional
interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the
2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.; or
(i) by reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR or EUR CMS or any
other reference rate
in each case as adjusted for any applicable margin.’
The length of the interest period is [e]
Rate of Interest: [e] +/- [®] per cent. Floating Rate

e Zero Coupon Notes®

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount
to it and will not bear interest.’

Rate of Interest: Zero Coupon

e Fixed/Floating Rate Notes™®

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate (i) that the Issuer may
elect to convert on [specified date] from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, EUR CMS), or from a Floating Rate to
a Fixed Rate or (ii) that will automatically change from a Fixed Rate to a
Floating Rate, or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate at [specified date].**

The length of the interest periods is [e].

Rate of Interest: [Fixed/Floating Rate] [EUR CMS]

e Maturities™
Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, any
maturity.™

Maturity Date: Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment
Date falling in or nearest to the relevant day and/or month and year

+ Redemption™
Unless redeemed earlier as described in “Redemption by Instalments”,
“Optional Redemption” and/or “Early Redemption”, the Notes will be
redeemed at maturity at par. For tax reasons, in certain circumstances the
Issuer may, and in certain circumstances the Issuer shall be required to,
redeem the Notes in whole (but not in part).*

Final Redemption Amount of each Note: [e] per Calculation Amount™®

e Make-whole redemption®’

[The Issuer will have the option to redeem all (but not some only) of the

" This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
8 Delete this item if not applicable.

® This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
% belete this item if not applicable.

™ This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
2 Delete this item if not applicable.

2 This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
! Delete this item if not applicable.

¥ This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
® The amount to be inserted will either be the nominal amount or, if there are multiple denominations, the minimum denomination of

such Calculation Amount

7 Delete this item if not applicable.
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Notes outstanding at any time prior to their Maturity Date, at the Make-whole
Redemption Amount.]*®

Applicable

e Optional redemption®®

[The Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of
the Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders, and, if so, the Final
Terms will set out the terms applicable to such redemption.]*

[Call Option : Applicable]

[Put Option : Applicable]

[Optional Redemption Amount : Applicable: [®] per Calculation Amount]

e Clean-up Call Option*

[The Issuer may redeem all but not some only of the Notes for the time
being outstanding, if, immediately prior to the date that such notice is given,
the Minimum Percentage or less of the aggregate nominal amount originally
issued of the Notes of the relevant Series remain outstanding, provided that
those Notes of such Series that are no longer outstanding have not been
redeemed (and subsequently cancelled) by the Issuer at the option of the
Issuer pursuant to Condition 5(e).]**

Minimum Percentage: [®] per cent.

Notice Period: [As per Conditions])/[not less than [e] days nor more than
[¢] days]

e Redemption by instalments®

[The Notes that are redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the
dates on which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.]**

The Notes are redeemable by instalments of [e] on [e], [e], [e]

e Early redemption®

Except as provided in “Make-whole redemption”, “Optional Redemption” and
“Clean-up Call Option” above, Notes will be redeemable at the option of the
Issuer prior to maturity only for tax reasons.”®

Early Redemption Amount: Applicable: [®] per Calculation Amount

e Yield
Yield (in respect of Fixed Rate Notes):[e]

e Name of representative of holders of Notes

Not Applicable. The terms of the Notes contain provisions relating to the
meetings of holders of Notes which do not require an appointment of a
representative of such holders.

C.10

Derivative

See Element C.9.

8 This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.

9 Delete this item if not applicable.

2 This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.

% Delete this item if not applicable.

2 This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.

2 Delete this item if not applicable.

% This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.

% Delete this item if not applicable.

% This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.
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componentin
interest payments

Not applicable. Notes issued under the Programme do not contain any
derivative components in the interest payments.

C.11 | Admission to
trading

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the
Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. [However, Notes may
also be issued under the Programme whereby they will be admitted to
trading and/or quotation by other stock exchanges, listing authorities and/or
guotation systems, as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer, or may be unlisted .J*’

[[Application has been made]/[Application is expected to be made] by the
Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange]/[e]] with effect from

[o]1*®

" This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary.

% Delete this item if not applicable.
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Section D —Risk Factors

D.2

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the Issuer

There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its
obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme:

Global Financial Crisis and Eurozone Debt Crisis: the
default, or a significant decline in the credit rating, of one or
more sovereigns or financial institutions could cause severe
stress in the financial system generally and could adversely
affect the markets in which the Issuers operate and the
businesses and economic condition and prospects of the
Issuers’ counterparties, customers, suppliers or creditors,
directly or indirectly, in ways which are difficult to predict;

The capacity of assets to generate sufficient income: the
income-producing capacity of the properties may be
adversely affected by various factors related to the properties
themselves or of a more general nature;

Property leasing risks: the Issuer ability to make payments
under the Notes issued under the Programme may be
dependent on payments made by the tenants;

Risks arising from trends in the property market: the
Issuer's activities are exposed to specific systemic risks such
as the cyclical nature of the commercial property sector;

Risks arising from property asset construction and
refurbishment projects and asset acquisition and disposal
projects which are linked to securing the requisite legal
administrative authorisations, controlling construction costs
and achieving a good letting rate for properties;

Tenant insolvency risks: the ability of the Issuer to collect
rents depends on the solvency of the its tenants;

Legal and regulatory risks: the Issuer has to comply with a
wide variety of laws and regulations (for example, securities
law, general regulations of the competition authorities, urban
planning regulations, lease laws, environmental regulations
and the SIIC regime) and changes in the regulatory
framework could impact the business activities, the assets or
the strategy of the Issuer. The Issuer could also be involved
in legal proceedings;

Tax risks linked to special tax regimes: the lIssuer is
exposed to changes in taxes rules in all countries it operates
in;

Environmental risks: the Issuer has to comply with
environmental regulations and the introduction of new
regulations could potentially affect its results or general
liability;

Insurance-related risks: the Issuer depends on the

insurance markets and their financial capacities to cover its
risks;

Market risks: the Unibail-Rodamco Group, through its
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activities, is exposed to market risks which can generate
losses as a result of fluctuations in interest rates and/or
currency exchange rates. The Unibail-Rodamco Group is
exposed to interest-rate risks on the loans it has taken out to
finance its investments. The Unibail-Rodamco Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risks because it operates in
countries outside the Euro-zone;

Liquidity risks: The Unibail-Rodamco Group could
encounter difficulties in raising funds and, as a result, lack
the access to liquidity that it needs. These events could also
affect the cost of its financing and lead to an increase of the
financial expenses of the Unibail-Rodamco Group;

Counterparty risks: A large number of major international
financial institutions are counterparties to the interest rate
derivatives and/or foreign exchange contracts and deposits
contracted by the Unibail-Rodamco Group. In the case of
default by a counterparty, the Unibail-Rodamco Group could
lose all or part of its deposits or may lose the benefit from
hedges signed with such counterparties;

Risks related to Unibail-Rodamco Group securities: the
price of the Issuer's securities could be volatile and could be
affected by events affecting the Issuer or the financial
markets in general,

Risks linked to key managers: the departure of a top
management team member could have impact upon the
business, the financial situation and the results of the Issuer;

Risks related to the Unibail-Rodamco Group's geographic
presence: part of the business of the lIssuer may be
conducted in markets where the Issuer may be exposed to
various risks and if the Issuer operates in a country outside
the euro zone, a depreciation of the currency of these
countries may also reduce the value of the Issuer's portfolio;

Information Technology (IT) risks: Unibail-Rodamco
Group's IT risk management approach is based on a security
policy, a change management policy and a business
recovery management;

Risks in the production of financial and accounting data:
there could be financial risks during accounting works;

Expropriation and compulsory acquisition of properties:
expropriation and the receipt of a compensation below the
actual value of the assets could affect the financial situation
of the Issuer;

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks: the ratings may not
reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure,
market and other factors that may affect the value of the
Notes; and

Risks associated with possible conflicts of interest:
potential conflicts of interest with companies where the
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Issuer is the majority shareholder.

D.3

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the Notes

There are certain factors that may affect the Notes issued under the
Programme, including:

The trading market for debt securities may be volatile and may be
adversely impacted by many events.

The market for debt securities issued by the Issuer is influenced by
economic and market conditions and, to varying degrees, market
conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates
in other European and other industrialised countries.

An active trading market for the Notes may not develop.

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the
Notes will develop, or, if one does develop, that it will be maintained.
If an active trading market for the Notes does not develop or is not
maintained, the market or trading price and liquidity of the Notes may
be adversely affected.

The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity.

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant
Final Terms specify otherwise, in the event that the relevant Issuer or,
in the case of Guaranteed Notes, the Guarantor would be obliged to
increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes or, as the case
may be, under the Guarantee, due to any withholding or deduction for
or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the jurisdiction of such Issuer
or, as the case may be, of the Guarantor or a political subdivision
thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, such
Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the
Conditions.

Purchases by the Issuer in the open market or otherwise (including
by tender offer) in respect of certain Notes may affect the liquidity of
the Notes which have not been so purchased.

Depending on the number of Notes purchased by the Issuer, any
trading market in respect of those Notes that have not been so
purchased may become illiquid.

[The following risks could be inserted if applicable]

[Any early redemption at the option of the Issuer, if provided for in a
particular issue of Notes, could cause the yield anticipated by
Noteholders to be considerably less than anticipated.

A particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption at the
option of the Issuer. Such right of termination is often provided for
bonds or notes in periods of high interest rates. If the market interest
rates decrease, the risk to Noteholders that the Issuer will exercise its
right of termination increases. As a consequence, the yields received
upon redemption may be lower than expected, and the redeemed
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face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for
the Notes paid by the Noteholder. As a consequence, part of the
capital invested by the Noteholder may be lost. [To insert if
applicable]]

[Exercise of put option in respect of certain Notes may affect the
liquidity of the Notes in respect of which such put option is not
exercised.

Depending on the number of Notes in respect of which any put option
is exercised, any trading market in respect of those Notes in respect
of which such put option is not exercised may become illiquid. [To
insert if applicable]]

[Change in value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Investors in Fixed Rate Notes are exposed to the risk that changes in
interest rates in the capital markets may adversely affect the value of
the Notes. [To insert if applicable]]

[Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return
on Floating Rate Notes.

Interest income on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to
varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite
yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that
their return on investment cannot be compared with that of
investments having longer fixed interest periods. [To insert if
applicable]]

[Fixed to Floating Rate Notes

Fixed to floating rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer
may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a
floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest
rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of the
Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is
likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. [To insert if
applicable]]

[Zero Coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-
discounted bonds.

Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon Notes are a type of
investment associated with a particularly high price risk. Further, if
market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher
price losses than other Notes having the same maturity and credit
rating. [To insert if applicable]]

[Risks related to Notes denominated in the Chinese Yuan
Renminbi (“RMB”)

Renminbi is not freely convertible and there are significant restrictions
on the remittance of RMB into and out of the PRC which may
adversely affect the liquidity of RMB Notes

RMB is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC
(the "PRC Government") continues to regulate conversion between
RMB and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar.

Although starting from 1 October 2016, the RMB will be added to the
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Special Drawing Rights basket created by the International Monetary
Fund, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will continue
to gradually liberalise control over cross-border remittance of RMB in
the future, that the schemes for RMB cross-border utilisation will not
be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be
promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or
eliminating the remittance of RMB into or out of the PRC. In the event
that funds cannot be repatriated out of the PRC in RMB, this may
affect the overall availability of RMB outside the PRC and the ability
of the Issuer to source RMB to finance its obligations under Notes
denominated in RMB.

There is only limited availability of RMB outside the PRC, which may
affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes and the Issuer's ability to source
RMB outside the PRC to service RMB Notes

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-
border RMB fund flows, the availability of RMB outside the PRC is
limited. While the People's Bank of China ("PBoC") has entered into
agreements on the clearing of RMB business with financial
institutions in a number of financial centres and cities (the "RMB
Clearing Banks"), including but not limited to Hong Kong and are in
the process of establishing RMB clearing and settlement mechanisms
in several other jurisdictions (the "Settlement Arrangements"), the
current size of RMB denominated financial assets outside the PRC is
limited.

There are restrictions imposed by PBoC on RMB business
participating banks in respect of cross-border RMB settlement, such
as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises.
Furthermore, RMB business participating banks do not have direct
RMB liquidity support from PBoC. The RMB Clearing Banks only
have access to onshore liquidity support from PBoC for the purpose
of squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of
transactions and are not obliged to square for participating banks any
open positions resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or
conversion services. In such cases, the participating banks will need
to source RMB from outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore RMB market will continue to
grow in depth and size, its growth is subject to many constraints as a
result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no
assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the
Settlement Arrangements will not be terminated or amended in the
future which will have the effect of restricting availability of RMB
outside the PRC. The limited availability of RMB outside the PRC
may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes. To the extent the Issuer is
required to source RMB in the offshore market to service its RMB
Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source
such RMB on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to currency risk.

Except in limited circumstances, all payments of RMB under Notes
denominated in RMB to an investor will be made solely by transfer to
a RMB bank account maintained in Hong Kong or a financial centre in
which a RMB Clearing Bank clears and settles RMB in accordance
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with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the
RMB Notes. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any
other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank
account in the PRC). RMB is not freely convertible at present, and
despite a movement towards liberalisation of cross-border RMB
remittances, notably in the current account activity, there is no
assurance that the PRC government will continue such movement in
the future or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the
future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance
of RMB into or outside the PRC.

Holders of RMB Notes may be required to provide certifications and
other information (including RMB account information) in order to
allow such Holder to receive payments in RMB in accordance with
the RMB clearing and settlement system for participating banks in
Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan.

In addition, there can be no assurance that access to RMB for the
purposes of making payments under such Notes or generally may
remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to
convert RMB from/to another freely convertible currency, or transfer
RMB between accounts in Hong Kong or a financial centre in which a
RMB Clearing Bank clears and settles RMB, or the general RMB
exchange market outside the PRC becomes illiquid, any payment of
RMB under the Notes may be delayed or the Issuer may make such
payments in another currency selected by the Issuer using an
exchange rate determined by the Calculation Agent, or the Issuer
may redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency. For
persons holding RMB Notes through Euroclear France, Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg, payments will also be made subject to the
procedures of Euroclear France, Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, as applicable.

If the Issuer is not able, or it is impracticable for it, to satisfy its
obligation to pay interest and principal on the RMB Notes as a result
of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or llliquidity (each, as defined in
the Conditions), the Issuer shall be entitled, on giving not less than
five or more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice to the investors
prior to the due date for payment, to settle any such payment in U.S.
Dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent (as defined in
the Conditions) of any such interest or principal, as the case may be.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to exchange rate risk.

The value of RMB against other foreign currencies fluctuates from
time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and international
political and economic conditions as well as many other factors.
Recently, the PBoC implemented changes to the way it calculates the
RMB's daily mid-point against the U.S. dollar to take into account
market-maker quotes before announcing such daily mid-point. This
change, and others that may be implemented, may increase the
volatility in the value of the RMB against foreign currencies. All
payments of interest and principal will be made in RMB with respect
to RMB Notes unless otherwise specified. As a result, the value of
these RMB payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing
exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of RMB depreciates
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against another foreign currency, the value of the investment made
by a holder of the RMB Notes in that foreign currency will decline.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to interest rate risk.

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised its regulation of
interest rates in recent years. Further liberalisation may increase
interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for RMB in markets
outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for
RMB in the PRC as a result of foreign exchange controls imposed by
PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.

As RMB Notes may carry a fixed interest rate, the trading price of the
RMB Notes will consequently vary with the fluctuations in the RMB
interest rates. If holders of the RMB Notes propose to sell their RMB
Notes before their maturity, they may receive an offer lower than the
amount they have invested.] [To insert if applicable]
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Section E - Offer

E.2b | Reasons for the offer | The net proceeds of the issue of Notes will be used for the general

and use of proceeds | corporate purposes of the Issuer, including acquisition and developing
policy if not otherwise specified for a particular identified purpose in
respect of any particular issue.?
[The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used by the Issuer for
its general corporate purposes.]/[e]*

E.3 Terms and Notes may be offered to the public of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
conditions of the and/or any other EEA Member State in which the Base Prospectus has
offer been passported.*

[The Notes are not offered to the public.]/[Not applicable]

[The Notes are offered to the public in: Specify any Member State of the
European Union in which the Base Prospectus has been passported and
in which the public offer is to take place

Offer Price: [Issue Price/specify]

Total amount of the issue/offer : [specify]

Issue Price : [specify]

Conditions to which the offer is subject: [give details]

Offer Period (including any possible

amendments): [®]

Description of the application process: [give details]

Details of the minimum and/or

maximum amount of the application: [give details]

Manner in and date on which results

of the offer are made public: [give details]]

[The Notes have been admitted to trading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange].

E.4 Interests, including [Not Applicable. So far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the
conflicting interests, | offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer, including conflicting
of natural and legal interests.] [The Dealer[s] will be paid aggregate commissions equal to [e]
persons involved in per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes. So far as the Issuer is
the issue of the aware, no other person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest
Notes material to the offer, including conflicting interests.] [e]

E.7 Estimated expenses [Not Applicable. There are no expenses charged to the investor/The
charged to investor estimated expenses charged to the investor(s) amount to [@®].]
by the Issuer or the
offeror

® Delete this item if not applicable.

% Delete this item if not applicable.

® This information shall be deleted for the purpose of drafting an issue specific summary
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RISK FACTORS

The Issuers and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their obligations
under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur
and the Issuers and the Guarantor are not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such
contingency occurring. The risk factors may relate to the Issuers or the Guarantor or any of their subsidiaries or
affiliates.

Factors which the Issuers and the Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market
risks associated with the Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuers and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in the Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of each of the Issuers (or the Guarantor) to
pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any
investment decision.

References in this Risk Factors section to the “Unibail-Rodamco Group” are to the group consisting of the
Guarantor and its subsidiaries, including the Issuers.

Certain additional risk factors relating to the Unibail-Rodamco Group are set out in the Unibail-Rodamco 2015
Annual and Sustainable Development Report as incorporated by reference herein. See “Documents
Incorporated by Reference’.

Risk Factors relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor

Risks related to the market generally
. Global Financial Crisis and Eurozone Debt Crisis

Concerns about credit risk (including those of sovereigns) and the Eurozone crisis have recently
intensified. The large sovereign debts and/or fiscal deficits of a number of European countries and the
U.S. have raised concerns regarding the financial condition of financial institutions, insurers and other
corporates: (i) located in these countries; (ii) that have direct or indirect exposure to these countries;
and/or (iii) whose banks, counterparties, custodians, customers, service providers, sources of funding
and/or suppliers have direct or indirect exposure to these countries. The default, or a significant
decline in the credit rating, of one or more sovereigns or financial institutions could cause severe
stress in the financial system generally and could adversely affect the markets in which the Issuers
and the Guarantor operate and the businesses and economic condition and prospects of the Issuers’
and the Guarantor’'s counterparties, customers, suppliers or creditors, directly or indirectly, in ways
which are difficult to predict.

The impact of these conditions could be detrimental to the Issuers and/or the Guarantor and could
adversely affect: their businesses, operations and profitability; their solvency and the solvency of their
counterparties, custodians, customers and service providers; their credit rating; their share price; the
value and liquidity of their assets and liabilities; the value and liquidity of the Notes; and/or the ability of
the Issuers to meet their obligations under the Notes and under their debt obligations more generally.

Prospective investors should ensure that they have sufficient knowledge and awareness of the
Eurozone crisis, global financial crisis and the economic situation and outlook as they consider
necessary to enable them to make their own evaluation of the risks and merits of an investment in the
Notes. In particular, prospective investors should take into account the considerable uncertainty as to
how the Eurozone crisis, the global financial crisis and the wider economic situation will develop over
time.
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Factors that may affect the Issuers’ and Guarantor’s ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued
under the Programme

The proceeds of the Notes issued under the Programme will permit the Issuers to address their general
financing needs, and in particular to finance existing or future development projects. The issue of the Notes will
also allow the Unibail-Rodamco Group to diversify its sources of financing. To make payments on the Notes
issued under the Programme, the Issuers will depend, in particular, on the income it receives from its business
operations.

The level of cash flows generated by its business operations depends on the following factors, among others:
. The capacity of assets to generate sufficient income

The income-producing capacity of the properties may be adversely affected by a large number of factors.
Some of these factors relate to the properties themselves, such as:

0] the age, design, technical features, location and construction quality of the properties;

(i) applica_ble regulations and perceptions regarding the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the
properties;

(iii) the proximity and attractiveness of competing office buildings, shopping centres or convention-
exhibition centres or any new competing assets;

(iv) the adequacy of the properties’ management and maintenance;

(V) increases in operating expenses;

(vi) an increase in the capital expenditures needed to maintain the properties or make improvements or
assume costs needed to comply with applicable regulations;

(vii) vacancy rates of assets;

(viii) a decline in rental rates as leases are renewed or entered into with new tenants;

(ix) incapacity of tenants to pay rents;

(x) non-renewal of the leases or renewal in bad financial conditions;

(xi) illiquidity of assets disrupting the capacity to sell assets or to sell them at prices sufficient for the

Unibail-Rodamco Group to pay its liabilities; and
(xii) evolution of valuation of assets.

Other factors of a more general nature, such as:

(a) national, regional or local economic and/or politic conditions (including plant closures, industry
slowdowns and unemployment rates);

(b) local property conditions from time to time (such as an oversupply or undersupply of office, retail or
warehouse space);

(c) demographic factors;

(d) consumer confidence;

(e) consumer tastes and preferences; and

) changes in building codes, planning and zoning regulations or, more generally, any other regulatory
changes.

. Property leasing risks

The Issuers’ and Guarantor’s ability to make payments under the relevant Notes issued under the
Programme may be dependent on payments being made by the tenants. Each tenant may become
unable to meet its obligations under the relevant lease or may fail to pay the rents on the due date or
at all.

Statutory rights of tenants

In each country where the Unibail-Rodamco Group operates, the number of statutory rights of tenants
under the leases may affect the net cash flow realised from the properties or cause delay in the
payment of the rental income.
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Such rights may, in some countries but not necessarily all countries in which the Unibail-Rodamco
Group operates, include in particular, but are not limited to, the following as per current applicable
regulations:

@) whether or not one of the Issuers or the Guarantor as landlord is in default of its obligations
under a lease, the tenant may have the right under general principles of French law (principe
d'exception d'inexécution) to retain its rental payments until the default is cured or refrain
from performing its other obligations thereunder;

(i) whether or not one of the Issuers or the Guarantor as landlord is in default of its respective
obligations under a lease, a tenant may have the right to reduce its rent and/or to spread the
awarded payment into instalments;

(iii) whether or not one of the Issuers or the Guarantor as landlord is in default of its respective
obligations under a lease, a tenant may have the right to terminate the lease for cause;

(iv) under Swedish rental law, if a tenant has a claim on the landlord, which may or may not be
based on the terms and conditions of a lease, such tenant has the possibility to deposit the
full or part of the amount of the claim at the county administrative board. However, the
deposited amount may not exceed the landlord’s claim on the tenant;

(v) a tenant may be entitled to an adequate rebate of the rent or compensation if the leased
premises can be used only in a limited extent due to the failure of the landlord to fulfil its
obligations;

(vi) a legal right of set-off could be exercised by a tenant in respect of its rental obligations under

the relevant lease if a reciprocal debt is owed to this tenant by the Issuers or the Guarantor
as landlord or otherwise;

(vii) French courts may in some circumstances grant time to the tenants in respect of their
payment obligations under the leases or may reschedule the debt of the tenants (in both
cases not in excess of two years);

(viii) under Austrian law, the possibility exists to challenge each contract in its entirety, thus also a
lease contract, due to the fact that the tenant might have been mistaken about important
facts in the lease contract at the time of conclusion of the lease;

(ix) a tenant may have the right to continue to occupy premises in case a lease agreement is
concluded for a definite period of time, when such tenant is using the premises after the
expiry of the term and the landlord fails to file within 30 days an application to the court for
vacation of the premises; and

(x) under French law, a tenant who owns a business (fonds de commerce) which has been
legitimately carried out may acquire a protected leasehold right, subject to certain other
conditions, and is entitled to the renewal of the lease (droit au renouvellement) upon its
expiry or to compensation for eviction (indemnité d'éviction) should the landlord elect not to
renew the lease. The compensation for eviction must compensate the tenant for any losses
and costs incurred by it.

The exercise of any such rights may affect the ability of the Issuers and/or Guarantor to meet its
obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme.

Force Majeure

Many jurisdictions where the Issuers or the Guarantor carry out their business recognise the right to
terminate contracts (including leases) on the basis of impossibility of performance. For a party to be
excused from performance on such grounds, there must occur a force majeure event; however, the
test as to what constitutes a force majeure event may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Hence, the
tenants under the leases may be released from the performance of their obligations under their
respective leases when force majeure events make the performance of their obligations impossible.
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Any such events may affect the ability of the Issuers and the Guarantor to meet their obligations under
the Notes issued under the Programme.

Risks inherent in the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s business activities

Risks arising from trends in the property market

The Unibail-Rodamco Group is present in various sectors of the commercial property sector,
specifically shopping centres, offices, convention-exhibitions and associated services. Apart from risk
factors specific to each asset, the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s activities are exposed to factors beyond
its control and to specific systemic risks, such as the cyclical nature of the sector in which it operates.
The Unibail-Rodamco Group’s strategy and policies aim to hedge and curb the negative effects of
these risks. However, sudden changes in the economic (including domestic consumption), financial,
currency, regulatory, geopolitical, political, social, health and/or ecological environment may have a
significant adverse effect on the Unibail-Rodamco Group, the value of its assets, its results, its
distribution policy, its development plans and/or its investment/divestment activities.

A long-term deterioration in economic conditions with implications for the rental market may have a
significant impact on the level of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s activities, its results, the value of its
assets and its investment and development strategy.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group’s assets (with the exception of certain development projects) are valued
bi-annually, using the fair valuation method. The value of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s assets is
sensitive to variation according to the valuers’ principle assumptions (yield, rental value, occupancy
rate) and is, therefore, susceptible to important variations that may impact the Unibail-Rodamco
Group, its profile and/or its results.

Some of the Unibail-Rodamco Group's real estate assets depend on flagship stores to attract
customers and could suffer a material adverse impact if one or more of these tenants were to
terminate their respective leases or to fail to renew their lease, and/or to deal with a lack of
attractiveness, and/or in the event of consolidation among these retail sector companies.

Risks arising from property asset construction and refurbishment projects and asset acquisition and
disposal projects

The Unibail-Rodamco Group conducts construction and refurbishment activities in the office, shopping
centre and convention-exhibition property segments, the principal risks of which are linked to: (i)
securing the final requisite legal administrative authorisations (building permits, commercial licences,
opening and/or operational licences, etc.); (i) controlling construction costs (staying on time and on
budget, managing fluctuations and technical constraints); and (iii) achieving a good letting rate for
properties (letting of all surfaces at sufficient rent levels).

An asset acquisition or disposal project needs legal, financial, technical and commercial review. An
acquisition may give rise to the materialisation of hidden liabilities and integration risks leading to
values inferior to acquisition prices.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group may invest in higher risk profile cities in Europe in order to establish a
dominant market position in key European cities. Higher risk profile involves emerging markets or
areas which are politically less stable, have weaker economic prospects or have lower entry barriers
for competition.

Tenant insolvency risks

The Unibail-Rodamco Group’s ability to collect rents depends on the solvency of its tenants. Tenants’
creditworthiness is taken into consideration by the Unibail-Rodamco Group before it enters into a
specific lease. Nevertheless, it is possible that tenants may not pay rent on time or may default on
payments, especially in the more difficult economic environments, and this could materially affect the
Unibail-Rodamco Group’s operating performance and/or its results. For information, 1% of unpaid rent
represents €17 million.
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Risks relating to the footfall in shopping centres

Any event, either accidental or not, likely to have a significant adverse effect on the footfall in Group’s
shopping centres, including but not limited to terrorist attacks or threats in this respect, could have
correlatively a significant adverse effect on the financial position, the results or the outlook of the
Group, as well as on the trading prices of securities traded on a regulated market issued by Unibail-
Rodamco.

Legal, regulatory, tax, environmental and insurance-related risks

Legal and regulatory risks

The Unibail-Rodamco Group has to comply with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including but
not limited to: securities law and general regulations of the competition authorities, urban planning
regulations, construction and operating permits and licences, health and safety regulations (particularly
for assets that are open to the public), environmental regulations, lease laws, labour regulations and
corporate and tax laws, in particular, in the case of Unibail-Rodamco, the provisions of the SIIC
(Sociétés d’Investissements Immobiliers Cotées) regime and foreign equivalents. Changes in the
regulatory framework and/or the loss of benefits associated with a status or an authorisation could
require the Unibail-Rodamco Group to adapt and/or reduce its business activities, its assets or its
strategy (including geographical presence), possibly leading to a material significant impact in the
value of its property portfolio and/or its results, an increase in its expenses and/or a slowing or even
halting of the development of certain investment or letting activities.

In the normal course of its business activities, the Unibail-Rodamco Group could be involved in legal
proceedings (for instance regarding contractual responsibility, employers’ liabilities, penal issues) and
is subject to tax and administrative audits. Associated risks, in addition to financial risk, include
reputational damage associated with the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s image, ethics and way of doing
business. To the best of the Issuers’ knowledge, at the filing date of this Base Prospectus, none of the
Issuers are involved in, or party to any government, judicial or arbitration proceeding (including all
proceedings which the Company is aware of and which are either pending or threatened) which could
have or have had during the last twelve months a material adverse effect on the results, the profitability
or financial situation of the Issuers and/or the Unibail-Rodamco Group and are not reflected in its
financial statements.

Tax risks linked to special tax regimes

General

The Unibail-Rodamco Group is subject to tax in the countries in which it operates. In some countries, a
special tax regime for real estate investors exists, leading to a lower tax burden at the level of the
Unibail-Rodamco Group, the basic principle being that a real estate company distributes most of its
income, which subsequently is taxable at the level of the shareholders. If and to the extent the Unibail-
Rodamco Group opts to make use of such system, it will be obliged to meet the conditions that are
linked to the respective system.

France

In France, Unibail-Rodamco is subject to the SIIC tax regime. If Unibail-Rodamco does not respect the
required conditions, it would become liable for standard corporate income tax which would have a
significant adverse effect on its business activities and its results. Furthermore, if one or more of
Unibail-Rodamco’s shareholders, acting separately or together, reaches the 60 per cent ownership
threshold for voting rights, this would cause Unibail-Rodamco to lose its SIIC status.

In addition to the above, Unibail-Rodamco could be faced with an additional 20 per cent tax charge on
any distribution paid out of the SIIC result to a tax-exempt shareholder (excluding individuals) owning,
directly or indirectly, 10 per cent or more of Unibail-Rodamco’s share capital, in the event that the
Company is unable to off-set this tax charge to such shareholders. For more details, refer to page 226
of the Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Annual and Sustainable Development Report.
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The Netherlands

As reported in its press release dated 11 December 2009, the Issuers expect that the Dutch tax
authorities will deny the status of FBI (Fiscale Beleggings Instelling) in The Netherlands for the Unibail-
Rodamco Group’s Dutch activities for 2010 onwards. Unibail-Rodamco still qualifies as a SIIC under
the French SIIC regime. Differences between the French SIIC and the Dutch FBI regime, although
materially insignificant in the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s case, proved to be irreconcilable for the Dutch
tax authorities.

Although the Issuers do not agree with the viewpoint of the Dutch tax authorities, it continues to apply
a prudent view in its 2014 accounts, based on the assumption that the Dutch activities from 2010
onwards will be taxable. In light of the significant Dutch tax loss carried forward, identified by the
Unibail-Rodamco Group’s fiscal advisers in The Netherlands, this assumption should have no material
impact on the financial position of the Unibail-Rodamco Group.

Spain

In Spain, the Unibail-Rodamco Group was able to enter the SOCIMI (sociedades cotizadas de
inversion en el mercado immobiliario) tax regime for most of its Spanish real estate assets in 2013. If
the Unibail-Rodamco Group does not respect the required conditions, it would become liable for
standard corporate income tax which would have a significant adverse effect on its business activities
and its results.

Furthermore, if one or more of Unibail-Rodamco's shareholders would have a participation that equals
5 per cent or more and at the same time pay less than 10 per cent tax on its dividends received from
Unibail-Rodamco, the Unibail-Rodamco Group could be faced with an additional 19 per cent tax
charge on distributions paid out of the SOCIMI result.

Future changes

In all countries it operates in, the Unibail-Rodamco Group remains exposed to changes in tax rules
that are currently in force, which can have a significant adverse effect on the Group, its results and its
financial position.

Environmental risks

As property owners, or managers, the Issuers have to comply with local environmental and health
regulations in each of the countries in which they are active. Failure to comply with these local
environmental and health regulations, or the need to comply with significant new regulations that may
be introduced in these domains, could lead to higher expenses or hamper the development of the
Unibail-Rodamco Group's activities and could potentially affect the Unibail-Rodamco Group's results or
general liability.

Moreover, each of the Unibail-Rodamco Group's real estate assets is potentially vulnerable to natural
disasters (climate change, health or ecological crises, etc.) that may have a significant adverse effect
on the affected properties, and similarly on the Group, its results and its financial position. Each year
Unibail-Rodamco includes a chapter on Sustainability in its Annual and Sustainable Development
Report. This report, also available on its website, deals with environmental group policy, targets and
achievements. A specific section is dedicated to the Unibail-Rodamco Group policy for Health and
Safety risk management on its assets.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group has been included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index World since
2008 and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index Europe since 2012. No guarantee can be given
regarding Unibail-Rodamco’s inclusion in these indices going forward.

Terrorism risks

By their nature, and despite of the measures put in place by the Group on its own, and in close

cooperation with public authorities in the country concerned, the property assets of the Group are

potentially exposed to acts of terrorism which may have serious consequences on persons and

property. The activity and the footfall of an asset which has been subject to an act of terrorism as well
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as all or some assets located in the country concerned, would suffer variable consequences
depending on the gravity of the event for a relatively long period of time and could have a significant
adverse effect on the Group, its results and its financial position.

Insurance-related risks

Insurers could face economic difficulties resulting in them being unable to honour claims pursuant to
the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s insurance policies.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group depends on the insurances markets and their financial capacities to
cover its risks. It could therefore experience insurance shortfalls or find it impossible to cover all or part
of certain risks.

Some of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s potential losses may not be covered, or may be partially
covered. In such instances, the Unibail-Rodamco Group could lose all or a portion of the capital
invested in an asset, as well as the expected rents from the asset.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group may be exposed to a situation where the value (reconstruction cost) of
one or more of its assets is wrongly assessed by its external property insurance valuers, which could
impact the indemnification of the losses.

In case of a total or partial reconstruction of an asset after a loss, the execution of new leases during a
less favourable market cycle than that in which the terminated leases were concluded, could lead to a
decrease in the value of the asset.

In respect of assets which are managed by third parties, the Unibail-Rodamco Group may face a
situation where insurance policies taken out by these external management companies, are no longer
in force or provide an insufficient coverage in case of loss.

Risks related to information systems

The Unibail-Rodamco Group relies on communication and information systems to conduct its
business. Any failure, interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures or
interruptions to its business leading to important costs related to information retrieval and verification
and to a potential loss of business.

The information systems may also face attacks against computer hardware or software leading to the
misappropriation of confidential data, extortion of funds or the temporary interruption of Group activities
(denial of service). Consequences could be, among others, financial (abortion of a transaction,
penalties, etc.), reputational (disclosure of operational or non-public financial data) and/or legal
(responsibility towards individuals or corporate entities about which the Unibail-Rodamco Group holds
confidential and/or personal information).

A failure, interruption or security breach of its information systems could have a material adverse effect
on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks associated with the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s financing policy and financial activities
Market risks

The Unibail-Rodamco Group, through its activities, is exposed to market risks which can generate
losses as a result of fluctuations in interest rates and/or currency exchange rates.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group is exposed to interest-rate risks on the loans it has taken out to finance
its investments. An increase or decrease in interest rates could have a significant adverse effect on the
Issuers' results. Part of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s exposure to variable rates is hedged through
derivatives, but these hedges could be insufficient to cover these risks. Moreover, changes in interest
rates could have a significant adverse effect on the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s result by affecting the
valuation of contracted derivatives of the Unibail-Rodamco Group.

The Unibail-Rodamco Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks because it operates in countries
outside the Euro-zone. The value of assets, rents and revenues received in these countries, as well as
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the value of operational and financial expenses, when translated into Euros, may be affected by
fluctuations in exchange rates. Additionally, changes in the interest rates of countries outside the euro
zone may also impact the results and/or the statement of financial position of the Unibail-Rodamco
Group.

The use of financing instruments on international markets exposes the Unibail-Rodamco Group to
extraterritorial regulations that may have a significant adverse effect on the Unibail-Rodamco Group,
its results and its financial position.

Foreign exchange risk is managed at a corporate level by the Treasury department which monitors the
foreign exchange risk on a regular basis. To hedge part of this risk, the Unibail-Rodamco Group uses
derivatives and debt in foreign currency. Such instruments may not hedge perfectly the underlying
assets or activities and, as a result, changes in the currency exchange and/or interest rates may have
an impact on the cash flows, the results and/or the statement of financial position of the Unibail-
Rodamco Group.

In addition, committees with several members of the Management Board are held several times a year
to decide the appropriate hedging strategy which is then implemented by the Treasury department.
Procedures do not allow for speculative positions to be put in place. Hedging practices and the net
interest rate and currency positions are described in the paragraph “Market Risk Management” of the
Financial Resources in the Business Review section in the Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Financial report.
Liquidity risks

The Unibail-Rodamco Group's strategy depends on its ability to raise financial resources, either in the
form of debt (mainly bank loans, bonds, credit lines and commercial paper) or equity capital, so that it
can finance its general operating requirements and its investments. It is possible (for example in the
event of disruption in the bond or equity markets, a reduction in the lending capacities of banks,
changes affecting the property market or investor appetite for property companies, a downgrade in one
of the Issuers’ credit rating or a change in business activities, financial situation or the Unibail-
Rodamco Group’s ownership structure) that the Unibail-Rodamco Group could — at any given point in
time — encounter difficulties in raising funds and, as a result, lack the access to liquidity that it needs.
These events could also affect the cost of its financing and lead to an increase of the financial
expenses of the Unibail-Rodamco Group. In this context, Unibail-Rodamco has put in place undrawn
back-up facilities for an amount mentioned in the paragraph “Funds raised” of the Financial Resources
in the Business Review section in the Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Financial report. Additionally, some of
the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s financing contracts are subject to financial covenants and the
occurrence of material adverse changes. More details on the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s covenants and
ratio levels can be found in the paragraph “Financial structure” of the Financial Resources in the
Business Review section in the Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Financial report.

Counterparty risks

A large number of major international financial institutions are counterparties to interest rate derivatives
and/or foreign exchange contracts and deposits contracted by the Unibail-Rodamco Group. In the case
of default by a counterparty, the Unibail-Rodamco Group could lose all or part of its deposits or may
lose the benefit from hedges signed with such counterparties. This could then result in an increase in
interest rate and/or currency exposures and have a significant adverse effect on the Group, its results
and its financial position. The Unibail-Rodamco Group’s policy to manage counterparty risks in relation
to derivative products is described in the paragraph “Market Risk Management” of the Financial
Resources in the Business Review section in the Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Financial report.

Risks related to the volatility in the price of Unibail-Rodamco Group securities

Stock markets may experience major fluctuations which may or may not be related to the results of the
companies whose shares are traded on regulated markets. The price of the Issuers’ securities
(including shares, ORA, i.e. bonds redeemable into Unibail-Rodamco shares, and ORNANE, i.e.
bonds convertible into either cash or existing Unibail-Rodamco shares) could be volatile and could be
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affected by events affecting the Unibail-Rodamco Group, its competitors or the financial markets in
general.

For instance, the price of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s securities as well as the securities issued by
the Unibail-Rodamco Group and/or financial derivatives could fluctuate significantly in response to
various factors and events, which could include: changes in the liquidity of the market for the Issuers’
shares; changes in the expectations of volatility of shares; variations in the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s
financial results or its competitors from one accounting period to another; differences between the
Unibail-Rodamco Group’s financial or operating results and those expected by investors and/or
analysts; changes in analysts’ recommendations or forecasts; changes in general market conditions or
in the economic environment; market fluctuations; the promulgation of new laws or regulations; or
changes in the interpretation of existing laws and regulations relating to the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s
business.

Risks related to the sovereign debt crisis

The onset of a credit risk (including for Sovereigns) and a Sovereign debt crisis and their potential
impacts could be detrimental to the Group and could negatively affect the markets and business on
which the Group operates. This environment could also negatively affect the Group’s operations and
profitability, its solvency and the solvency of its counterparties and the value and liquidity of the
securities issued by Unibail-Rodamco and/or Unibail-Rodamco’s ability to meet its commitments in
respect of those securities and its commitments with respect to its debt more generally.

Risks linked to key managers

The departure of a top management team member could have a material adverse impact upon the
business, financial situation and/or results of the Unibail-Rodamco Group. To control this risk, the
Unibail-Rodamco Group policy is, when possible, to set up a meaningful and attractive remuneration
policy as well as a succession plan to the most relevant levels (Supervisory Board,Management
Board, Group Management Team).

Risks related to the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s geographic presence

Although the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s operations are currently concentrated in Continental Europe,
part of the business is or may be conducted in markets where the Unibail-Rodamco Group may be
exposed to social, political, legal, tax and/or economic instability, among other risks.

In relation to the risks related to the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s geographic presence, the Unibail-
Rodamco Group operates in some countries that have not joined the Euro zone. Depreciation in the
local currencies of such countries could have a significant adverse effect on the Unibail-Rodamco
Group’s cash flows in Euros: (i) when rents collected in local currency are converted into euros and
where the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s hedging policy is not sufficient; or (ii) when rents are collected in
euros and this affects the tenants’ ability to pay.

Depreciation in the currencies of countries outside or potentially leaving the Euro zone may also
reduce the value of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s portfolio, despite the implementation of hedging
policies.

Information Technology (IT) risks

The Unibail-Rodamco Group's IT risk management approach is largely based on (i) security policy, (ii)
change management policy and (iii) business recovery management.

In relation to the Unibail-Rodamco Group's security policy, individual passwords are required to access
computers and applications. In addition, the control of access right requests ensures the security and
integrity of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s information system.

In relation to the Unibail-Rodamco Group's change management policy, IT development projects are
monitored through dedicated status committees where planning, costs and key issues are addressed. IT
developments are approved by end users.
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In relation to the Unibail-Rodamco Group's business recovery management, the regular and formalised
backup of data is stored off site and ensures the recovery of the activity in the event of a failure in the
information system. An outsourced data centre ensures the high availability of the mailing and treasury
systems, being also a backup platform for the IT recovery system. In addition, the Group Business Recovery
Plan (BRP) has been updated in 2015. This BRP provides a technical and organisational action plan in case
of a major breakdown (temporary unavailability of Head Offices and\or computing infrastructures).

Risk associated with the production of financial and accounting data

Accounting systems can be a source of financial risks, particularly in the context of end-of-period
accounting, the consolidation of accounts and accounting for off-balance sheet obligations.

Expropriation and compulsory acquisition of properties

The Unibail-Rodamco Group may also be exposed to the “expropriation” proceeding. In such case the
expropriated owner may receive a compensation which may be below the actual value of the assets.
Therefore, it could affect the financial situation of the Unibail-Rodamco Group.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings
may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed
above and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. In
addition, a rating downgrade may lead to an increase in the cost of financing for the Issuers and may
therefore lead to difficulties for the Issuers to meet their obligations.

Risks associated with possible conflicts of interest

Risks of conflicts of interest with companies where Unibail-Rodamco is the majority shareholder

Unibail-Rodamco is the majority shareholder through fully-owned subsidiaries in several companies
which have one or more minority shareholders (see pages 214 to 220 of the Unibail-Rodamco 2015
Financial Report). In certain circumstances, these situations are likely to lead to potential conflicts of
interest and/or generate potential claims from the minority shareholders of those subsidiaries despite
the existing rules preventing such situations and managing conflicts of interest.

Asset protection risks

The Issuers are covered by a Group insurance program that is underwritten by reputable leading
insurance companies.

This program is monitored by the Group Insurance Department in liaison with local teams and
insurance brokers. In addition, the Issuers carry out regular checks on the solvency rating of its
insurers.

For property damage and terrorism, most of the Unibail-Rodamco Group’s property assets are insured
for their full reconstruction value, which is regularly assessed by external property insurance valuers
and for business interruption and loss of rents. The Unibail-Rodamco Group has also taken out
general liability insurance that covers financial damages incurred by third parties.

Prompt measures were implemented following the Paris terrorist attacks to strengthen existing
procedures and processes to assist local teams and reinforce the security of customers, employees,
suppliers' employees and tenants' employees by:

e reinforcing strong relationships with police authorities;
e providing temporary additional staffing for securing access;

e providing training to shopping centre management teams to identify and manage situations
linked to terrorism; and
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o further developing crisis management principles and best practices.

Most construction projects and renovation works on properties are covered by Contractor's All Risk
policies in all regions. Defects affecting the works are covered by Decennial Insurance in France and
by Contractors warranties for works in other regions (an inherent defect insurance is occasionally
taken out for large projects outside of France).

In addition, the Issuers regularly arrange inspections of technical facilities that could have an impact on
the environment and/or personal safety, such as fire-fighting equipment, ventilation and air
conditioning systems, electric installations and elevators.

A Health and Safety annual risk assessment was conducted in 2015 for all managed assets in all
regions to mitigate health and safety risks. The risk assessment is performed by an independent
Health & Safety inspector. This risk assessment provides a single and comprehensive source of
information on the management of sanitary and environmental risks such as water, air, lead, asbestos
and Legionnaire’s disease.

This organisation is part of the group-wide policy on health and safety risk management. This policy
consists of group-wide rules and guidelines and is complemented at the local level by additional
procedures mandated by local regulations and are the responsibility of each Regional Managing
Director.

Risk Factors relating to the Notes
The trading market for debt securities may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many events.

The market for debt securities issued by issuers is influenced by economic and market conditions and, to
varying degrees, market conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in other
European and other industrialised countries. There can be no assurance that events in France, Europe or
elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price of the Notes or
that economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse effect.

An active trading market for the Notes may not develop.

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Notes will develop, or, if one does develop,
that it will be maintained. If an active trading market for the Notes does not develop or is not maintained, the
market or trading price and liquidity of the Notes may be adversely affected. The relevant Issuer may issue
further notes, as described in Condition 12 (“Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Further Issues and
Consolidation”). Such transactions may favourably or adversely affect the price development of the Notes. If
additional and competing products are introduced in the markets, this may adversely affect the value of the
Notes.

The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity.

Unless in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Final Terms specify otherwise, in the event
that the relevant Issuer or, in the case of Guaranteed Notes, the Guarantor would be obliged to increase the
amounts payable in respect of any Notes or, as the case may be, under the Guarantee, due to any withholding
or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of
whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the jurisdiction of such
Issuer or, as the case may be, of the Guarantor or a political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or
thereof having power to tax, such Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions.

Any early redemption at the option of the Issuer, if provided for in any Final Terms for a particular issue of
Notes, could cause the yield anticipated by Noteholders to be considerably less than anticipated.

The Final Terms for a particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption at the option of the Issuer.
Such right of termination is often provided for bonds or notes in periods of high interest rates. If the market
interest rates decrease, the risk to Noteholders that the relevant Issuer will exercise its right of termination
increases. As a consequence, the yields received upon redemption may be lower than expected, and the
redeemed face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for the Notes paid by the
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Noteholder. As a consequence, part of the capital invested by the Noteholder may be lost, so that the
Noteholder in such case would not receive the total amount of the capital invested. In addition, investors that
choose to reinvest moneys they receive through an early redemption may be able to do so only in securities
with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes.

Exercise of put option in respect of certain Notes may affect the liquidity of the Notes in respect of which such
put option is not exercised.

Depending on the number of Notes in respect of which the put option provided in the terms and conditions of
the Notes is exercised, any trading market in respect of those Notes in respect of which such put option is not
exercised may become illiquid.

Purchases by the Issuer in the open market or otherwise (including by tender offer) in respect of certain Notes
may affect the liquidity of the Notes which have not been so purchased.

Depending on the number of Notes purchased by the Issuer as provided in the terms and conditions of the
Notes, any trading market in respect of those Notes that have not been so purchased may become illiquid.

Change in value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Investors in Fixed Rate Notes are exposed to the risk that changes in interest rates in the capital markets may
adversely affect the value of the Notes. Generally, prices of fixed interest rate bonds tend to fall when market
interest rates rise.

Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes.

A key difference between Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes is that interest income on Floating Rate
Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite yield
of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their return on investment cannot be compared
with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. If the terms and conditions of the notes provide for
frequent interest payment dates, investors are exposed to the reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline.
That is, investors may reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then
prevailing.

Fixed to Floating Rate Notes.

Fixed to floating rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate will affect the
secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate
when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating
rate, the spread on the fixed to floating rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on
comparable floating rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time
may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed
rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Zero Coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-discounted bonds.

Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon Notes than
on the prices of ordinary Notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially below par. If market
interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher price losses than other Notes having the same
maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon Notes are a type of investment associated
with a particularly high price risk.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls.

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes and, where applicable, the Guarantor will pay
amounts due under the guarantee in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency
conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the
“Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may
significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the
Investor’'s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or
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modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified
Currency would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor’'s Currency-
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value
of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal
than expected, or no interest or principal.

Taxation.

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other
documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are
transferred or other jurisdictions. Payments of interest on the Notes, or profits realised by the Noteholder upon
the sale or redemption of the Notes, may be subject to taxation in its home jurisdiction or in other jurisdictions
in which it is required to pay taxes. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court
decisions may be available for financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised not to
rely upon the tax summary contained in this Base Prospectus and/or in the Final Terms but to ask for their own
tax adviser’s advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding, sale and redemption of
the Notes. Only these advisers are in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor.
This investment consideration has to be read in connection with the taxation sections of this Base Prospectus
and the additional tax sections, if any, contained in the relevant Final Terms.

The proposed financial transaction tax (“FTT”).

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for a
Directive for a common financial transactions tax (the “FTT”) in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain,
France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the “Participating Member States”).

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Notes
(including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. The issuance and subscription of Notes
should, however, be exempt.

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and
outside of the Participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Notes where at least
one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a Participating Member State. A
financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a Participating Member State in a broad range
of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a Participating Member State or
(b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

Joint statements issued by participating Member States confirmed that all relevant issues will continue to be
examined by national experts. They noted the intention of the participating Member States to work on a
progressive implementation of the FTT, focusing initially on the taxation of shares and some derivatives.
Further to the last meeting of the participating Member State Finance Ministers on 8 December 2015, they
indicated that the FTT could be implemented by 1 July 2017. Estonia, however, left the group of countries
willing to introduce the tax.

However, it is unclear if and in what form the FTT will be actually introduced.
Prospective holders of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

Holdings of less than the minimum specified denomination may be affected if the Notes are traded in
denominations that are not integral multiples of the Specified Denomination.

To the extent permitted by the applicable law(s) and in relation to any issue of Notes which have a
denomination consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus a higher integral multiple of another
smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the Specified
Denomination (or its equivalent) that are not integral multiples of the Specified Denomination (or its equivalent).
In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the
minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive
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Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal
to one or more Specified Denominations.

French Insolvency Law.

Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities are automatically grouped into a single assembly of
holders (the "Assembly") in case of the opening in the Republic of France of a safeguard procedure
(procédure de sauvegarde) or, if initiated by Unibail-Rodamco, an accelerated safeguard procedure (procédure
de sauvegarde accelérée), an accelerated financial safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde financiere
accelérée) or a judicial reorganisation procedure (procédure de redressement judiciaire) of Unibail-Rodamco,
in order to defend their common interests.

The Assembly comprises holders of all debt securities issued by Unibail-Rodamco (including the Notes),
whether or not under a debt issuance programme (such as a Euro Medium Term Notes programme) and
regardless of their governing law.

The Assembly deliberates on the draft safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde or projet de plan de
sauvegarde financiere accélérée or procédure de sauvegarde accélérée) or draft judicial reorganisation plan
(projet de plan de redressement) applicable to Unibail-Rodamco and may further agree to:

* increase the liabilities (charges) of holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) by rescheduling
and/or writing-off debts;

» establish an unequal treatment between holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) as
appropriate under the circumstances; and/or

» decide to convert debt securities (including the Notes) into shares.

Decisions of the Assembly will be taken by a two-third majority (calculated as a proportion of the debt securities
held by the holders attending such Assembly or represented thereat). No quorum is required on convocation of
the Assembly. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the representation of the Noteholders
described in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in this Base Prospectus and, if applicable, the
applicable Final Terms, will not be applicable in these circumstances.

The procedures, as described above or as they will or may be amended, could have an adverse impact on
holders of the Notes seeking repayment in the event that Unibail-Rodamco were to become insolvent.

Conflicts of interest — Calculation Agent:

Potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent (if any) and Noteholders (including
where a Dealer acts as a calculation agent), including with respect to certain determinations and judgements
that such Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Conditions that may influence amounts receivable by
the Noteholders during the term of the Notes and upon their redemption.

Risks related to Notes denominated in the Chinese Yuan Renminbi (“RMB”)

Renminbi is not freely convertible and there are significant restrictions on the remittance of RMB into and out of
the PRC which may adversely affect the liquidity of RMB Notes

RMB is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC (the "PRC Government") continues to
regulate conversion between RMB and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar.

Although starting from 1 October 2016, the RMB will be added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by
the International Monetary Fund, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will continue to gradually
liberalise control over cross-border remittance of RMB in the future, that the schemes for RMB cross-border
utilisation will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated in the future
which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of RMB into or out of the PRC. In the event that
funds cannot be repatriated out of the PRC in RMB, this may affect the overall availability of RMB outside the
PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source RMB to finance its obligations under Notes denominated in RMB.

There is only limited availability of RMB outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes and
the Issuer's ability to source RMB outside the PRC to service RMB Notes
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As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-border RMB fund flows, the availability of RMB
outside the PRC is limited. While the People's Bank of China ("PBoC") has entered into agreements on the
clearing of RMB business with financial institutions in a number of financial centres and cities (the "RMB
Clearing Banks"), including but not limited to Hong Kong and are in the process of establishing RMB clearing
and settlement mechanisms in several other jurisdictions (the "Settlement Arrangements"), the current size of
RMB denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited.

There are restrictions imposed by PBoC on RMB business participating banks in respect of cross-border RMB
settlement, such as those relating to direct transactions with PRC enterprises. Furthermore, RMB business
participating banks do not have direct RMB liquidity support from PBoC. The RMB Clearing Banks only have
access to onshore liquidity support from PBoC for the purpose of squaring open positions of participating banks
for limited types of transactions and are not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions
resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or conversion services. In such cases, the participating
banks will need to source RMB from outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore RMB market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth is
subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no
assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the Settlement Arrangements will not be
terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of RMB outside the
PRC. The limited availability of RMB outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the RMB Notes. To the extent
the Issuer is required to source RMB in the offshore market to service its RMB Notes, there is no assurance
that the Issuer will be able to source such RMB on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to currency risk.

Except in limited circumstances, all payments of RMB under Notes denominated in RMB to an investor will be
made solely by transfer to a RMB bank account maintained in Hong Kong or a financial centre in which a RMB
Clearing Bank clears and settles RMB in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations and in
accordance with the RMB Notes. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means
(including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC). RMB is not freely convertible at
present, and despite a movement towards liberalisation of cross-border RMB remittances, notably in the
current account activity, there is no assurance that the PRC government will continue such movement in the
future or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or
eliminating the remittance of RMB into or outside the PRC.

Holders of RMB Notes may be required to provide certifications and other information (including RMB account
information) in order to allow such Holder to receive payments in RMB in accordance with the RMB clearing
and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan.

In addition, there can be no assurance that access to RMB for the purposes of making payments under such
Notes or generally may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to convert RMB from/to
another freely convertible currency, or transfer RMB between accounts in Hong Kong or a financial centre in
which a RMB Clearing Bank clears and settles RMB, or the general RMB exchange market outside the PRC
becomes illiquid, any payment of RMB under the Notes may be delayed or the Issuer may make such
payments in another currency selected by the Issuer using an exchange rate determined by the Calculation
Agent, or the Issuer may redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency. For persons holding RMB
Notes through Euroclear France, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, payments will also be made subject
to the procedures of Euroclear France, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable.

If the Issuer is not able, or it is impracticable for it, to satisfy its obligation to pay interest and principal on the
RMB Notes as a result of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or llliquidity (each, as defined in the Conditions),
the Issuer shall be entitled, on giving not less than five or more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice to the
investors prior to the due date for payment, to settle any such payment in U.S. Dollars on the due date at the
U.S. Dollar Equivalent (as defined in the Conditions) of any such interest or principal, as the case may be.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to exchange rate risk.

The value of RMB against other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and is affected by changes in

the PRC and international political and economic conditions as well as many other factors. Recently, the PBoC
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implemented changes to the way it calculates the RMB's daily mid-point against the U.S. dollar to take into
account market-maker quotes before announcing such daily mid-point. This change, and others that may be
implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of the RMB against foreign currencies. All payments of
interest and principal will be made in RMB with respect to RMB Notes unless otherwise specified. As a result,
the value of these RMB payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing exchange rates in the
marketplace. If the value of RMB depreciates against another foreign currency, the value of the investment
made by a holder of the RMB Notes in that foreign currency will decline.

Investment in the RMB Notes is subject to interest rate risk.

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised its regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for RMB in markets outside the
PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for RMB in the PRC as a result of foreign exchange
controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.

As RMB Notes may carry a fixed interest rate, the trading price of the RMB Notes will consequently vary with
the fluctuations in the RMB interest rates. If holders of the RMB Notes propose to sell their RMB Notes before
their maturity, they may receive an offer lower than the amount they have invested.
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RETAIL CASCADES

In the context of Notes issued by Unibail-Rodamco only, if any offer of Notes is made in the Grand Duchy of
Luxembourg and/or any other jurisdiction of the European Union in which this Base Prospectus has been
passported from time to time in which case a supplement shall be prepared to indicate such additional public
offer jurisdictions (the “Public Offer Jurisdictions”) that is not within an exemption from the requirement to
publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, as amended (a “Public Offer”), Unibail-Rodamco
consents to the use of the Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms (together, the “Prospectus”) in
connection with a Public Offer of any Notes during the offer period specified in the relevant Final Terms (the
“Offer Period”) and in the Public Offer Jurisdiction(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms by:

(1) subject to conditions set out in the relevant Final Terms, any financial intermediary designated in such
Final Terms; or

(2) if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, any financial intermediary which satisfies the following
conditions: (a) acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance of any
applicable regulatory bodies (the “Rules”), from time to time including, without limitation and in each case,
Rules relating to both the appropriateness or suitability of any investment in the Notes by any person and
disclosure to any potential investor; (b) complies with the restrictions set out under “Subscription and Sale”
in this Base Prospectus which would apply as if it were a Dealer; (c) ensures that any fee (and any
commissions, rebates, or benefits of any kind) received or paid by that financial intermediary in relation to
the offer or sale of the Notes does not violate the Rules and is fully and clearly disclosed to investors or
potential investors; (d) holds all licences, consents, approvals and permissions required in connection with
solicitation of interest in, or offers or sales of, the Notes under the Rules; (e) retains investor identification
records for at least the minimum period required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so requested, and to
the extent permitted by the Rules, make such records available to the relevant Dealer(s) and Unibail-
Rodamco or directly to the appropriate authorities with jurisdiction over the Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer(s) in order to enable the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer(s) to comply with anti-money laundering,
anti-bribery, anti-corruption and “know your client” rules applying to the Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer(s); (f) does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealer(s) to breach any Rule
or any requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction; and (g)
satisfies any further conditions specified in the relevant Final Terms (in each case an “Authorised
Offeror”). For the avoidance of doubt, none of the Dealers or Unibail-Rodamco shall have any obligation
to ensure that an Authorised Offeror complies with applicable laws and regulations and shall therefore
have no liability in this respect.

Unibail-Rodamco accepts responsibility, in the Public Offer Jurisdiction(s) specified in the Final Terms, for the
content of the Base Prospectus in relation to any person (an “Investor”) in such Public Offer Jurisdiction(s) to
whom an offer of any Notes is made by any Authorised Offeror and where the offer is made during the period
for which that consent is given. However, neither Unibail-Rodamco nor any Dealer has any responsibility for
any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an Authorised Offeror with applicable
conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law requirements in relation
to such offer.

The consent referred to above relates to Offer Periods (if any) ending no later than the date falling 12 months
from the date of the approval of the Base Prospectus by the CSSF.

In the event that the Final Terms designate financial intermediary(ies) to whom Unibail-Rodamco has given its
consent to use the Prospectus during an Offer Period, Unibail-Rodamco may also give consent to additional
Authorised Offerors after the date of the relevant Final Terms and, if it does so, it will publish any new
information in relation to such Authorised Offerors who are unknown at the time of the approval of this Base
Prospectus or the filing of the relevant Final Terms at http://www.unibail-rodamco.fr.

If the Final Terms specify that any financial intermediary may use the Prospectus during the Offer

Period, any such Authorised Offeror is required, for the duration of the Offer Period, to publish on its

website that it is using the Prospectus for the relevant Public Offer with the consent of Unibail-
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Rodamco and in accordance with the conditions attached thereto.

Other than as set out above, neither Unibail-Rodamco nor any of the Dealers has authorised the making of any
Public Offer by any person in any circumstances and such person is not permitted to use the Prospectus in
connection with its offer of any Notes. Any such offers are not made on behalf of Unibail-Rodamco or by any of
the Dealers or Authorised Offerors and none of Unibail-Rodamco or any of the Dealers or Authorised Offerors
has any responsibility or liability for the actions of any person making such offers.

An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Authorised Offeror will do so, and
offers and sales of the Notes to an Investor by an Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with
any terms and other arrangements in place between such Authorised Offeror and such Investor
including as to price allocations, settlement arrangements and expenses to be charged to the Investor
(the “Terms and Conditions of the Public Offer”). Unibail-Rodamco will not be a party to any such
arrangements with Investors (other than Dealers) in connection with the offer or sale of the Notes and,
accordingly, this Base Prospectus does not and any Final Terms will not contain such information. The
Terms and Conditions of the Public Offer shall be provided to Investors by that Authorised Offeror at
the time of the Public Offer. Neither Unibail-Rodamco nor any of the Dealers or other Authorised
Offerors has any responsibility or liability for such information.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents which have
been previously published or are published simultaneously with the Base Prospectus and that have been filed
with the CSSF and are incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

the English language version of the half year financial report of Unibail-Rodamco dated 20 July
2016 for the half yearly financial information 2016 (the "Unibail-Rodamco Financial Report
First Half 2016");

the English language version of the 2015 annual report of Unibail-Rodamco including the audited
consolidated financial statements and related audit report for the financial year ended 31
December 2015 but excluding (i) the "Declaration by the person responsible for the Registration
Document" and the paragraph headed "Documents available to the public" appearing on pages
319 and 320 and (ii) the concordance table appearing on the Contents page, the AMF visa and
the reference to the free translation appearing on page 1, which, in each case, are not relevant to
investors in the Notes (the "Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Annual and Sustainable Development
Report");

the English language version of the 2014 annual report of Unibail-Rodamco including the audited
consolidated annual financial statements and related audit report for the financial year ended 31
December 2014 but excluding (i) the “Declaration by the person responsible for the Registration
Document” and the paragraph headed “Documents available to the public” appearing on pages 299
and 300 and (ii) the concordance table appearing on pages 301 to 303, the section on documents
included for reference purposes appearing on the Contents page, the AMF visa and the reference to
the free translation appearing on page 1, which, in each case, are not relevant to investors in the
Notes (the “Unibail-Rodamco 2014 Annual and Sustainable Development Report”);

the English language version of the 2015 audited annual financial statements of Rodamco Europe
Finance (including the amounts for comparative purposes in the statement of financial position, the
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows and notes thereto for
the year ended 31 December 2014) (the “Rodamco Europe Finance 2015 Audited Annual
Financial Statements”);

the English language version of the 2014 audited annual financial statements of Rodamco
Europe Finance (including the amounts for comparative purposes in the statement of financial
position, the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows and
notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2013) (the “Rodamco Europe Finance 2014
Audited Annual Financial Statements”);

the English language version of the 2015 audited consolidated annual financial statements of
Rodamco Sverige (including the amounts for comparative purposes in the balance sheet, profit and
loss account, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the year ended 31
December 2014) (the “Rodamco Sverige 2015 Audited Annual Financial Statements”);

the English language version of the 2014 audited annual financial statements of Rodamco Sverige
(including the amounts for comparative purposes in the balance sheet, profit and loss account, the
statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2013)
(the “Rodamco Sverige 2014 Audited Annual Financial Statements”);

the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 52 to 78 of the base prospectus dated 30
July 2015 (the “2015 EMTN Conditions”);

the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 51 to 82 of the base prospectus dated 1
August 2014 (the “'2014 EMTN Conditions");
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()] the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 51 to 83 of the base prospectus dated 24
June 2013 (the “'2013 EMTN Conditions");

(k) the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 35 to 63 of the base prospectus dated 20
June 2012 (the "2012 EMTN Conditions");

)] the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 38 to 66 of the base prospectus dated 20
June 2011 (the "2011 EMTN Conditions");

(m) the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 37 to 64 of the base prospectus dated 1
September 2010 (the "2010 EMTN Conditions"); and

(n) the terms and conditions of the Notes contained on pages 33 to 61 of the base prospectus dated 26
August 2009, as amended by the base prospectus supplement dated 24 February 2010 (the "2009
EMTN Conditions")

save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to
be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained
herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any
statement so modified or superseded shall be deemed not, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute
a part of this Base Prospectus.

Any reference to any of the documents set out in (b) and (c) shall be deemed to exclude the relevant excluded
sections as set out in (b) and (c) above, respectively. Such excluded sections are not relevant for investors.

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus may be obtained from the relevant
Issuer and Guarantor and each of the Paying Agents during normal business hours, so long as any of the
relevant Notes are outstanding, at their addresses mentioned at the end of this Base Prospectus. For the
avoidance of a doubt, the documents which are incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus and referred to in paragraphs (a) to (c) above, are not incorporated by reference in
this Prospectus. Such non-incorporated parts are either not relevant for investors or either covered elsewhere
in this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference are also available for viewing on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

A supplement to this Base Prospectus or a new base prospectus shall be prepared in the event that any
significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information contained or incorporated by
reference herein occurs which may impact on the price of the Notes and which occurs after the date of this
Base Prospectus and prior to the date of admission of such Notes to trading or the date of the offer of such
Notes to the public.

In relation to each issue of Notes, this Base Prospectus shall be completed by the applicable Final Terms.

CROSS REFERENCE TABLE IN RESPECT OF INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Unibail-Rodamco interim financial statements for the | Unibail-Rodamco Financial Report First Half 2016
period ended 30 June 2016

Consolidated Interim Statement of Comprehensive | Page 42
Income (ERPA Format)

Consolidated Interim Statement of Financial Position Page 43
Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows Page 44
Accounting Principles and Consolidation Methods Pages 46-47
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Notes to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements | Pages 46-72
Statutory Auditors' Review Report on the 2016 First | Page 73
Half Yearly Financial Information

Business Review and 2016 Half Year Results Pages 2-16

Unibail-Rodamco audited annual consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2015

Unibail-Rodamco 2015 Annual and Sustainable
Development Report

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Pages 155-156

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Page 157

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Page 158

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Pages 161-222

Accounting principles

Pages 203-205

Auditors’ Report relating to the annual consolidated Page 223
financial statements for the financial year ended 31

December 2015

Unibail-Rodamco simplified organisational structure Page 128
Unibail-Rodamco risk factors Pages 295-299
2015 business review and 2015 Results Pages 15-33

Composition of Management Board and Supervisory
Board

Pages 245-250

Unibail-Rodamco audited annual consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2014

Unibail-Rodamco 2014 Annual and Sustainable
Development Report

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Pages 149-150

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Page 151

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Page 152

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014

Pages 154-218

Accounting principles

Pages 154-162

Auditors’ Report relating to the annual consolidated Pages 219
financial statements for the financial year ended 31

December 2014

Unibail-Rodamco simplified organisational structure Page 121
Unibail-Rodamco risk factors Pages 277-281
2014 business review and 2014 Results Pages 14-30

Composition of Management Board and Supervisory
Board

Pages 236-241
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Rodamco Europe Finance B.V. audited annual
financial information for the financial year ended 31
December 2015

Rodamco Europe Finance B.V. 2015 Audited
Annual Financial Information

Statement of Income Page 4
Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 5
Statement of Financial Position Page 6
Statement of Changes in Equity Page 7
Statement of Cash flows Page 8
Notes to the financial information for the financial year | Page 9-26
ended 31 December 2015

Accounting principles Page 9-15
Independent Auditors’ Report relating to the audited Pages 27-28

annual financial information for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015

Rodamco Europe Finance B.V. audited financial
information for the financial year ended 31 December
2014

Rodamco Europe Finance B.V. 2014 Financial
Information

Statement of Income Page 4
Statement of Comprehensive Income Page 5
Statement of Financial Position Page 6
Statement of Changes in Equity Page 7
Statement of Cash flows Page 8
Notes to the financial information for the financial year | Pages 9-26
ended 31 December 2014

Accounting principles Pages 9-15
Independent Auditors’ Report relating to the audited Pages 27-28

annual financial information for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014

Rodamco Sverige audited annual financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015

Rodamco Sverige 2015 Audited Annual Financial
Statements

Income Statement Page 2
Balance Sheet Page 3
Cash Flow Statement Page 4
Consolidated statement of changes in equity Page 5
Notes to the audited annual consolidated financial Page 6-40
statements for the financial year ended 31 December

2015

Accounting principles Pages 6-13
Auditors’ Report relating to the audited annual financial | Pages 41-43

statements for the financial year ended 31 December
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2015

Rodamco Sverige audited annual financial statements | Rodamco Sverige 2014 Audited Annual Financial

for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 Statements
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Page 2
Consolidated statement of financial position Page 3
Consolidated statement of cash flows Page 4
Consolidated statement of changes in equity Page 5

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the Pages 6-45
financial year ended 31 December 2014

Accounting principles and consolidation methods Pages 6-13

Auditors’ Report relating on the consolidated financial Pages 46-47
statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2014

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference lists, is considered as
additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Prospectus Regulation.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

Issuers

Guarantor (where applicable)
Description

Size

Arranger

Dealers

Fiscal Agent and Principal Paying
Agent

Paying Agent

Method of Issue

Redenomination

Unibail-Rodamco
Rodamco Europe Finance B.V.
Rodamco Sverige AB

Unibail-Rodamco
Guaranteed Euro Medium Term Note Programme

The Issuers may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws,
regulations and directives, from time to time issue Notes
denominated in any currency. The aggregate principal amount of
Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed Euro 15,000,000,000
(or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to any duly authorised
increase.

Bank of America Merrill Lynch International, Paris Branch

Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas, Crédit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank, HSBC Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., Merrill Lynch
International, Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, Société
Générale, Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ) and The Royal Bank
of Scotland pilc.

The Issuers and the Guarantor may from time to time terminate the
appointment of any dealer under the Programme or appoint
additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in
respect of the whole Programme. References in this Base
Prospectus to “Permanent Dealers” are to the persons listed above
as Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as
dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose
appointment has not been terminated) and references to “Dealers”
are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer
in respect of one or more Tranches.

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch

BNP Paribas Securities Services

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.
The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series”) having one or
more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical
other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of
each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other
Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each
a “Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates. The specific
terms of each Tranche (which will be completed with the relevant
terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue
price, first payment of interest and nominal amount of the Tranche,
will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series)
will be set out in the Final Terms.

Notes issued in the currency of any Member State of the European

Union which participates in the third stage of European Economic

and Monetary Union may be redenominated into euro, all as more

fully provided in the relevant Final Terms, pursuant to the “Terms
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Issue Price

Form of Notes

Clearing Systems

Initial Delivery of Notes

Currencies

Maturities

and Conditions of the Notes — Form, Denomination, Title and
Redenomination”.

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or
premium to their nominal amount as set out in the relevant Final
Terms.

The Notes may be issued in bearer form only, in such
denominations of not less than Euro 1,000 (or the equivalent in
another currency) in the case of Unibail-Rodamco as Issuer and not
less than Euro 100,000 (or the equivalent in another currency) in
respect of the other Issuers as may be specified in the relevant
Final Terms.

Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear and/or, in relation to
any Tranche, Euroclear France or such other clearing system as
may be agreed between the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the
relevant Dealer.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant Global
Note may be intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations, the
Global Note will be delivered to a Common Safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. If the relevant Global
Note is not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations, the
Global Note representing Notes may (or, in the case of Notes listed
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, shall), on or before the issue
date for each Tranche, be deposited with a Common Depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or in the case of a
Tranche intended to be cleared through Euroclear France, on the
issue date with Euroclear France acting as Central Depositary.
Global Notes relating to Notes that are not listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange may also be deposited with any other
clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system,
provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in
advance by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer. In
the case of NGNs, any such other clearing system must be
authorised to hold such notes as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between
the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (where applicable) and the
relevant Dealers, including euro.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, any maturity.
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Denomination

Fixed Rate Notes

Floating Rate Notes

Zero Coupon Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Interest Periods and Interest Rates

Redemption

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be specified
in the relevant Final Terms save that in respect of any Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on any Regulated Market or offered to
the public within the territory of any EEA State, in each case in
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under
the Prospectus Directive, such Notes will have a minimum specified
denomination of Euro 1,000 (or the equivalent in another currency)
in the case of Unibail-Rodamco as Issuer and not less than Euro
100,000 (or the equivalent in another currency) in respect of the
other Issuers.

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each
year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for
each Series as follows:

- on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional
interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the
2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.; or

- by reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR or EUR CMS or any
other reference rate

in each case as adjusted for any applicable margin.

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a
discount to it and will not bear interest.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate (i) that the
Issuer may elect to convert on the date set out in the Final Terms
from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, EUR CMS), or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate or (ii)
that will automatically change from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate,
or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate at the date set out in the
Final Terms.

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable
interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time
or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest
rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual
periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the
same interest period. All such information will be set out in the
relevant Final Terms.

Unless redeemed earlier as described in “Redemption by
Instalments”, “Optional Redemption”, “Early Redemption” and/or
“Clean-up Call Option”, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity
Date at par. For tax reasons, in certain circumstances the Issuer
may, and in certain circumstances the Issuer shall be required to,
redeem the Notes in whole (but not in part).
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Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer

Redemption by Instalments

Optional Redemption

Status of Notes

Status of Guarantee

Negative Pledge

Events of Default

Substitution of Issuer

Rating

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, in respect of
any issue of Notes, the Issuer will have the option to redeem the
Notes, in whole (but not in part), at any time or from time to time,
prior to their Maturity Date, at the Make-whole Redemption Amount.

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes that are
redeemable in two or more instalments will set out the dates on
which, and the amounts in which, such Notes may be redeemed.

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state
whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity
at the option of the Issuer (including a Clean-up Call Option) (either
in whole or in part) and/or the holders.

The Notes will constitute unsubordinated and unsecured obligations
of the Issuer, all as described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes
— Guarantee and Status”.

The Guarantee, where applicable, constitutes the direct,
unconditional, unsubordinated and, subject to Condition 3 (“Terms
and Conditions of the Notes — Negative Pledge”), unsecured
obligation of the Guarantor and shall (subject to such exceptions as
are from time to time mandatory under French law) rank equally and
rateably with all other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor.

The terms and conditions of the Notes will contain a negative
pledge provision as described in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Negative Pledge”.

The terms and conditions of the Notes will contain an events of
default provision as described in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Events of Default”.

The terms and conditions of the Notes will contain a substitution
provision as described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes —
Meetings of Noteholder and Modifications —Substitution” allowing
any Issuer (subject to certain conditions) to substitute for itself as
principal debtor under the Notes, (i) where that Issuer is not Unibail-
Rodamco, either Unibail-Rodamco or any Subsidiary of Unibail-
Rodamco or (ii) where that Issuer is Unibail-Rodamco, any of its
Subsidiaries, provided that, in all cases, where the substitute issuer
is not Unibail-Rodamco, the relevant Notes, Receipts, Coupons,
Talons and Deed of Covenant shall be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by Unibail-Rodamco by means of a deed
poll.

The Programme has been rated [A] by S&P and A+ by Fitch.

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated.
Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be
the same as the rating applicable to the Programme. A rating is not
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning
rating agency.

Each Rating Agency ascribes particular meaning to each of its
rating according to its own criteria. For example, as defined by
Standard & Poors, an A is somewhat more susceptible to the

51



Early Redemption

Withholding Tax

Governing Law

Listing and Admission to Trading

Selling Restrictions

adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic
conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However,
the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the
obligation is still strong. Also for example, as defined by Fitch, an
A+ rating denotes expectations of low default risk. The capacity
for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This
capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse
business or economic conditions than is the case for higher
ratings.

Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes will
be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to maturity only
for tax reasons. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes —
Redemption, Purchase and Options”.

Notes issued by Unibail-Rodamco:

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of Unibail-
Rodamco in respect of the Notes issued by Unibail-Rodamco
shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or
deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld
or assessed by or within France or any authority therein or
thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or
deduction is required by law.

Notes issued by Issuers other than Unibail-Rodamco:

Payments of interest and other revenues in respect of the Notes
issued by any Issuer other than Unibail-Rodamco will be made
free of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by The
Netherlands (in the case of Rodamco Europe Finance) or
Sweden (in the case of Rodamco Sverige) or any authority
therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding
or deduction is required by law.

English.

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the
Official List and to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange’s regulated market. However, Notes may also
be issued under the Programme whereby they will be admitted
to trading and/or quotation by other stock exchanges, listing
authorities and/or quotation systems as may be agreed between
the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, or may be unlisted, in each
case as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and
deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material,
see “Subscription and Sale”.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in accordance with the
provisions of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in
exchange for the Global Note(s) representing each Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions
together with the relevant provisions of the Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed (and
subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions) shall be endorsed on such Notes. All
capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant
Final Terms. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes. References in the Conditions to “Notes”
are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Amended and Restated Agency Agreement dated 29 July 2016 (as such
may have been further amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the “Agency Agreement”) between
the Issuers, Unibail-Rodamco as Guarantor, BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal
agent and the other agents named in it and with the benefit of an Amended and Restated Deed of Covenant
dated 29 July 2016 (as such may have been further amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the “Deed
of Covenant”) executed, inter alios, by the Issuers and the Guarantor in relation to the Notes. Reference in any
Notes to the “Issuer” means, unless otherwise specified therein, the Issuer of such Notes, as specified on the
relevant Final Terms. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the calculation agent(s), the redenomination agent
and the consolidation agent for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal Agent”,
the “Paying Agents” (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the “Calculation Agent(s)’, the
“‘Redenomination Agent” and the “Consolidation Agent”. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of
the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating to interest bearing Notes and, where applicable in the case of
such Notes, talons for further Coupons (the “Talons”) (the “Couponholders”) and the holders of the receipts
for the payment of instalments of principal (the “Receipts”) relating to Notes of which the principal is payable in
instalments are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

As used in these Conditions, “Tranche” means Notes which are identical in all respects.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the specified offices
of each of the Paying Agents.

1 Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination
(a) Form and Denomination
The Notes are issued in bearer form in the Specified Denomination(s) shown hereon.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Instalment Note, a
combination of any of the foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and
Redemption/ Payment Basis shown hereon, provided that in the case of any Notes admitted to trading
as provided hereon, the minimum Specified Denomination shall be €1,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency as at the date of issue of such Notes) in respect of Unibail-Rodamco and not less than
€100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of such Notes) in respect of the
other Issuers.

The Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon)
attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in
relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not
applicable. Instalment Notes are issued with one or more Receipts attached.

(b)  Title

Title to the Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Except as ordered by a
court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Receipt,
Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes,
whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it, any
writing on it or its theft or loss and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.
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(@)

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Note and the Receipts relating to it, “holder”
(in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the bearer of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or
Talon and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such meaning
indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

Redenomination

@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

The Issuer may (if so specified hereon) without the consent of the holder of any Note, Receipt,
Coupon or Talon, by giving at least 30 days’ notice in accordance with Condition 13, on or after the
date on which the Member State of the European Union in whose national currency such Notes are
denominated has become a participant Member State in the single currency of the European
Economic and Monetary Union (as provided in the Treaty establishing the European Community
(the “EC”), as amended from time to time (the “Treaty”) or events have occurred which have
substantially the same effects (in either case, “EMU”), redenominate all, but not some only, of the
Notes of any Series into Euro and adjust the aggregate principal amount and the Specified
Denomination(s) set out in the relevant Final Terms accordingly, as described below. The date on
which such redenomination becomes effective shall be referred to in these Conditions as the
‘Redenomination Date”.

The redenomination of the Notes pursuant to Condition 1(c)(i) shall be made by converting the
principal amount of each Note from the relevant national currency into Euro using the fixed relevant
national currency Euro conversion rate established by the Council of the European Union pursuant
to applicable regulations and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest €0.01 (with €0.005 being
rounded upwards). If the Issuer so elects, the figure resulting from conversion of the principal
amount of each Note using the fixed relevant national currency Euro conversion rate shall be
rounded down to the nearest Euro. The Euro denominations of the Notes so determined shall be
notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. Any balance remaining from the
redenomination with a denomination higher than €0.01 shall be paid by way of cash adjustment
rounded to the nearest €0.01 (with €0.005 being rounded upwards). Such cash adjustment will be
payable in Euro on the Redenomination Date in the manner notified to Noteholders by the Issuer.

Upon redenomination of the Notes, any reference in the relevant Final Terms to the relevant
national currency shall be construed as a reference to Euro.

The Issuer may, with the prior approval of the Redenomination Agent and the Consolidation Agent,
in connection with any redenomination pursuant to this Condition or any consolidation pursuant to
Condition 12, without the consent of the holder of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon, make any
changes or additions to these Conditions or Condition 12 (including, without limitation, any change
to any applicable business day definition, business day convention, principal financial centre of the
country of the Specified Currency, interest accrual basis or benchmark), taking into account market
practice in respect of redenominated euromarket debt obligations and which it believes are not
prejudicial to the interests of such holders. Any such changes or additions shall, in the absence of
manifest error, be binding on the holders of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons and shall be
notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 as soon as practicable thereafter.

Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent shall be liable to the holder of any Note, Receipt, Coupon
or Talon or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting
from the credit or transfer of Euro or any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection
therewith.

Guarantee and Status
Guarantee and Status of the Guarantee

The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to
be payable under the Notes, Receipts and Coupons issued by any Issuer (other than Unibail-Rodamco).
Its obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Deed of Covenant and constitute
direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3) unsecured obligations of the Guarantor
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and shall (subject to such exceptions as are from time to time mandatory under applicable French law) at
all times rank pari passu, without any preference or priority by reason of date of issue, currency of
payment or otherwise with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
Guarantor.

Status of Notes

The payment obligations of the Issuer under the Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them
constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to Condition 3) unsecured obligations of the
Issuer and rank and will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and (subject to such
exceptions as are from time to time mandatory under applicable law of the jurisdiction of incorporation of
the Issuer) equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer.

Negative Pledge

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor (where applicable) will, and each of the Issuer and the Guarantor
(where applicable) will ensure that none of Unibail-Rodamco's Principal Subsidiaries will, create or permit
to subsist any Security Interest upon the whole or any part of their respective assets or revenues, present
or future, to secure any Relevant Debt or any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Debt
unless, at the same time or prior thereto, the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes and, where applicable,
the Guarantor’s obligations under the Guarantee are rateably and equally secured therewith or benefit
from a guarantee or indemnity in substantially identical terms thereto except, in the case of any entity
which becomes a Principal Subsidiary of Unibail-Rodamco (through acquisition or otherwise) or which is
merged into the Issuer or the Guarantor, where applicable, or into any of Unibail-Rodamco's Principal
Subsidiaries or any other Subsidiary of Unibail-Rodamco and as a result of which such Subsidiary
becomes a Principal Subsidiary, for any Security Interest existing on or over any present or future assets
or revenues of such entity on the date on which it becomes a Principal Subsidiary or is merged into
Unibail-Rodamco or a Principal Subsidiary or any such other Subsidiary of Unibail-Rodamco (including the
subsequent renewal of such Security Interest) or in respect of which a binding agreement to create it
exists provided such Security Interest was not created in contemplation of or in connection with it
becoming a Principal Subsidiary of Unibail-Rodamco or being so merged.

For the purposes of these Conditions:
“Principal Subsidiary” has the meaning set out in Condition 9 below.

“Relevant Debt” means any present or future indebtedness in the form of or represented by bonds, notes
(being, in the case of Unibail-Rodamco, obligations), other securities (being, in the case of Unibail-
Rodamco, titres financiers, as referred to in Article L.211-1 Il of the French Code monétaire et financier
(but excluding securities referred to in paragraphs II-1 and 1I-3 of such Article and copies exécutoires a
ordre)), which are or are capable of being quoted, admitted to trading or ordinarily dealt in on any
regulated market.

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, lien, charge, pledge or other form of security interest (being, in
the case of Unibail-Rodamco, a s(reté réelle).

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any person or entity at any time, any other person or entity (whether or
not now existing) that is controlled directly or indirectly, or more than 50 per cent. of whose issued share
capital (or equivalent) is held or owned, by such person or entity and/or any of such person or entity’s
subsidiaries at such time. For a person or entity to be “controlled” by another person or entity means that
such other person or entity holds or owns, either directly or indirectly, a percentage of the share capital of
such person or entity which entitles it to exercise a majority of voting rights at the general assemblies of
such person or entity.
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Interest and other Calculations

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from, and including, the Interest
Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest,
such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable shall
be determined in accordance with Condition 4(g).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes

@)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from, and including,
the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to
the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date. The
amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 4(g). Such Interest
Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no
Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/fare shown hereon, Interest Payment Date shall mean
each date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the Interest Period
after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date,
after the Interest Commencement Date.

Business Day Convention

If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in
accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a
Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business
Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it
would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be
the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject
to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the
next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such
date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into
the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be
brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes

The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be
determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below relating to either ISDA
Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified
hereon.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be
determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the
purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “ISDA Rate” for an Interest Accrual Period means a
rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under
a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions
and under which:

(x) the Floating Rate Option is as specified hereon;

(y) the Designated Maturity is a period specified hereon; and
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the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless
otherwise specified hereon.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), “Floating Rate”, “Calculation Agent”,

» o« ” o«

‘Floating Rate Option”, “Designated Maturity”, “Reset Date” and “Swap Transaction”
have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

(@

(b)

()

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the
Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual
Period will subject as provided below, be either:

(1) the offered quotation; or
(2) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears
or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either 11.00
a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time in the case of EURIBOR)
on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation
Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant
Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one
only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest
quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation
Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered
quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is
specified hereon as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in
respect of such Notes will be determined as provided hereon.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or, if sub-paragraph (a)(1) above
applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page, or, if
sub-paragraph (a)(2) above applies and fewer than three such offered quotations
appear on the Relevant Screen Page, in each case as at the time specified above,
subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall request, if the Reference
Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the Reference Banks or, if the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the
Reference Banks, to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation
(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the
Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the
Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks
provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for
such Interest Accrual Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations
as determined by the Calculation Agent;

If paragraph (b) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than
two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below,
the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed
as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent
by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were
offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time)
or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time)
on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a
period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading
banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the

Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market, as the case may be,
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or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such
offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period
equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic
mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to
that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference
Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time) or, if the Reference Rate
is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time), on the relevant Interest
Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the
opinion of the Trustee and the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the
Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR,
the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone
inter-bank market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot
be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the
Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination
Date (though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of
Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which
applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or
Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of
the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding
Interest Accrual Period).

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined and the Reference Rate in
respect of the Floating Rate Notes is specified as being EUR CMS, the Rate of
Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be the
offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for EUR CMS
relating to the relevant maturity (the relevant maturity year mid swap rate in EUR
(annual 30/360)), which appears on the Relevant Screen Page, being Reuters page
“ISDAFIX2” under the heading “EURIBOR BASIS - EUR”, as at 11.00 a.m. Frankfurt
time, in the case of the EUR-ISDA-EURIBOR Swap Rate-11:00 on the relevant
Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Calculation Agent.

In the event that the EUR CMS does not appear on the Relevant Screen Page, the
Calculation Agent shall determine on the relevant Interest Determination Date the
applicable rate based on quotations of five Reference Banks (to be selected by the
Calculation Agent and the relevant Issuer) for EUR CMS relating to the relevant
maturity (in each case the relevant mid-market annual swap rate commencing two
TARGET Business Days following the relevant Interest Determination Date). The
highest and lowest (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest and/or lowest)
quotations so determined shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the
purpose of determining the Reference Rate which will be the arithmetic mean
(rounded if necessary to five significant figures with halves being rounded up) of
such provided quotations.

If, for any reason, the EUR CMS is no longer published or if fewer than three
quotations are provided to the Calculation Agent in accordance with the above
paragraph, it will be determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion
following discussions with the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercial and
reasonable manner.

Where any Reference Rate is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being

determined by linear interpolation in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the Rate

of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be calculated by the Calculation

Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the

Reference Rate, one of which shall be determined as if the maturity were the period
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of time (for which rates are available) next shorter than the length of the relevant
Interest Accrual Period, and the other of which shall be determined as if the maturity
were the period of time (for which rates are available) next longer than the length of
the relevant Interest Accrual Period.

Zero Coupon Notes

Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the
Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be
the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any
overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the
Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 5(b)(i)).

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate (i) that the Issuer may elect to convert on the date
set out in the Final Terms from a Fixed Rate to a Floating Rate (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
EUR CMS), or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate or (ii) that will automatically change from a Fixed
Rate to a Floating Rate, or from a Floating Rate to a Fixed Rate at the date(s) set out in the Final Terms.

Accrual of Interest

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue
(after as well as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to
the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7).

Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest, Instalment Amounts and Redemption Amounts and
Rounding

0] If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest
Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the
Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in
accordance with (b) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if
a negative number) of such Margin, subject always to the next paragraph.

(i) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount is
specified hereon, then any Rate of Interest, Instalment Amount or Redemption Amount shall be
subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.

(iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions, (x) all percentages
resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-
thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be
rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency
amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with
halves being rounded up) save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest
yen. For these purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as
legal tender in the country(ies) of such currency.

Calculations

The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual
Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified hereon,
and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount is applicable to
such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in
respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such Interest Amount. Where any
Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per
Calculation Amount in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the amounts of interest
payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which
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interest is required to be calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction
shall be for the period for which interest is required to be calculated.

Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Instalment Amounts

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may be
required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation,
determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period,
calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or
Instalment Amount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may
be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the
relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early
Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or any Instalment Amount to be notified to the Fiscal
Agent, the Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in
respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the
Notes are listed on a stock exchange or other relevant authority and the rules of such exchange or other
relevant authority so require, such exchange as soon as possible after their determination but in no
event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in
the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other
cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest
Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 4(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest
Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest
Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 9, the accrued interest and the Rate of
Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in
accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so
calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and
the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of
manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the
meanings set out below:

“‘Business Day” means:

0] in the case of a currency other than euro and Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday or
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the
principal financial centre for such currency; and/or

(i) in the case of euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET Business
Day”); and/or

(iii) in case of Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and
foreign exchange markets settle payments in Renminbi in Hong Kong and in the relevant
Business Centre(s) (if any); and/or

(iv) in the case of a currency and/or one or more Business Centres, a day (other than a Saturday
or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in
such currency in the Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of the
Business Centres

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any
period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not
constituting an Interest Period or an Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”):

0] if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual - ISDA” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the

actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that
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Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion
of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of
days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Calculation Period divided by 365;

if “Actual/360” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of
days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 X (Y2-Y1)] +[30 X (Mz - M1)] + (D5 - D1)
360

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period
falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D; is greater
than 29, in which case D, will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of days
in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y2 - Y1)] +[30 x (M2 - Ma)] + (D2 - D)
360

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period
falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and
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‘D, is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D,
will be 30;

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 X (Y2 - Y1)] +[30 x (Mp - M1)] + (D - Dy)
360

where:

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period
falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last
day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

“M,” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless
(x) that day is the last day of February or (y) such number would be 31, in which case D,
will be 30; and

“D,” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period, unless (x) that day is the last day of February but not
the Maturity Date or (y) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30;

if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified in the relevant Final Terms,

(A)

(B)

if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which
it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the
number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination
Periods normally ending in any year; and

if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:

(x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in
which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending
in any year; and

(y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination
Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year;

if “30/360 (Fixed)” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of days in the period
from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest
Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days
being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360;

and

if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap
year, 366;

where:
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“Determination Date” means the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if
none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date

“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any
year to but excluding the next Determination Date

“Euro-zone” means the region comprising member states of the European Union that adopt
the single currency in accordance with the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each
successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but
excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date

“Interest Amount” means:

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation
Amount for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes shall
mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, specified in the relevant Final Terms
as being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such
Interest Accrual Period forms part; and

(i) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for
that period

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be
specified in the relevant Final Terms

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual
Period or the interest amount in relation to RMB Notes, the date specified as such in the
relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual Period
if the Specified Currency is Sterling or Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi or (ii) the day falling two
Business Days in London for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest
Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor euro nor Hong Kong dollars or
Renminbi or (iii) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such
Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is euro

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement
Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive
period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding)
the next succeeding Interest Payment Date

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the
relevant Final Terms

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association, Inc, as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first
Tranche of Notes which are available on request from the Issuer

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note
and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon

“Redemption Amount” means the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount,
the Make-whole Redemption Amount or the Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may
be, of the Note, which in each case, unless specified in the relevant Final Terms, shall be its
nominal amount

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London
office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market and, in the case of a determination
of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank
market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent
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(k)

“‘Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such in the relevant Final Terms

“‘Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a
particular information service as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms

“RMB Note” means a Note denominated in Renminbi

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if
none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer (known as TARGET2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007
or any successor thereto.

Calculation Agent

The Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be one or more Calculation Agents if provision is
made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement).
Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these
Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its
respective duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if
the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to
calculate any Interest Amount, Instalment Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption
Amount, Make-whole Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to
comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or investment banking firm
engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options
market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the
Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such
market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor
having been appointed as aforesaid.

RMB Notes

Notwithstanding the foregoing, each RMB Note which is a Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and
including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum equal to the Rate of Interest. For the
purposes of calculating the amount of interest, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a
day which is not a Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it
would thereby fall into the next calendar month in which case it shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day. Interest will be payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after 11.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on each Interest
Determination Date, calculate the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for the
relevant Interest Accrual Period. The determination of the amount of interest payable per Specified
Denomination by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error and after confirmation by
the Issuer) be final and binding upon all parties.

The Calculation Agent will cause the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for each
Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to each of the Paying
Agents and to be notified to Noteholders as soon as possible after their determination but in no event
later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. The amount of interest payable per Specified
Denomination and Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate
alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or
shortening of the Interest Accrual Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 9, the
accrued interest per Specified Denomination shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this provision but no publication of the amount of interest
payable per Specified Denomination so calculated need be made.

Interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified
Denomination, multiplying such product by the actual number of days in the relevant Interest Accrual

Period or, as applicable, other period concerned and dividing it by 365, and rounding the resultant figure
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to the nearest Renminbi sub-unit, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in
accordance with applicable market convention.

5 Redemption, Purchase and Options

(a) Redemption by Instalments and Final Redemption

()

(ii)

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 5, each Note
that provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts shall be partially redeemed on each
Instalment Date at the related Instalment Amount specified hereon. The outstanding nominal
amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the Instalment Amount (or, if such Instalment
Amount is calculated by reference to a proportion of the nominal amount of such Note, such
proportion) for all purposes with effect from the related Instalment Date, unless payment of the
Instalment Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case, such amount shall remain
outstanding until the Relevant Date relating to such Instalment Amount.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be
finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which is its
nominal amount) or, in the case of a Note falling within paragraph (i) above, its final Instalment
Amount.

(b) Early Redemption

(i)

(ii)

Zero Coupon Notes

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note, upon redemption
of such Note pursuant to Condition 5(c), 5(e), 5(f) or 5(g) or upon it becoming due and payable
as provided in Condition 9 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below)
of such Note unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any such
Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date
discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield
(which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Face
Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price
on the Issue Date) compounded annually.

(C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption
pursuant to Condition 5(c), 5(e), 5(f) or 5(g) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided
in Condition 9 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in
respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as described in sub-
paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the date on
which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the
Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made
(both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or
after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled
Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that
may accrue in accordance with Condition 4(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on
the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

Other Notes

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in
paragraph (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 5(c), 5(e), 5(f) or 5(g) or
upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9, shall be the Final Redemption
Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption unless otherwise specified in
the relevant Final Terms.
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(d)

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

()

(ii)

If, by reason of any change in the applicable law of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer
and/or, where applicable, the Guarantor (in each case, the “Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction”) or in
each case, any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, or any
change in the official application or interpretation of any such law, becoming effective after the
Issue Date, the Issuer and/or, as the case may be, the Guarantor would on the occasion of the next
payment of principal or interest due in respect of the Notes or, where applicable (if it were called)
under the Guarantee, not be able to make such payment without having to pay additional amounts
as specified under Condition 7, the Issuer may, at its option, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so
specified hereon, at any time, subject to having given not more than 45 nor less than 30 days’ prior
notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), in accordance with Condition 13
redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Redemption Amount together with any interest
accrued to the date set for redemption provided that the due date for redemption of which notice
hereunder may be given shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the Issuer or
the Guarantor, as the case may be, could make payment of principal and interest without
withholding for taxes in the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction(s).

If the Issuer (in the case of Unibail-Rodamco) would on the next payment of principal or interest in
respect of such Notes or, where applicable or (if it were called) the Guarantor under the Guarantee,
be prevented by French law from making payment to the Noteholders or Couponholders of the full
amount then due and payable, notwithstanding the undertaking to pay additional amounts
contained in Condition 7, then the Issuer (failing which, where applicable, the Guarantor) shall
forthwith give notice of such fact to the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer shall, upon giving not less than
seven nor more than 30 days’ irrevocable prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 13, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes then outstanding at their Redemption
Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption on (A) the latest
practicable Interest Payment Date on which the Issuer could make payment of the full amount then
due and payable in respect of the Notes, provided that if such notice would expire after such
Interest Payment Date, the date for redemption pursuant to such notice of Noteholders shall be the
later of (i) the latest practicable date on which the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be,
could make payment of the full amount then due and payable in respect of the Notes and/or the
Guarantee, as the case may be, and (ii) 14 days after giving notice to the Fiscal Agent as aforesaid
or (B) if so specified on this Note, at any time, provided that the due date for redemption of which
notice hereunder shall be given shall be the latest practicable date at which the Issuer or the
Guarantor, as the case may be, could make payment of the full amount payable in respect of the
Notes, Receipts or Coupons and/or the Guarantee, as the case may be, or, if that date is passed,
as soon as practicable thereafter.

Make-whole Redemption by the Issuer

Unless specified in the relevant Final Terms as being not applicable, the Issuer may, having given:

0

(i

not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition
13; and

not less than 15 days before the giving of the notice referred to in paragraph (i) above, notice to
the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent and such other parties as may be specified in the Final
Terms,

(which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption (each such date, a
“Make-whole Redemption Date”)) redeem all (but not some only) of the Notes then outstanding at any
time prior to their Maturity Date at their relevant Make-whole Redemption Amount. On or not later than
the Business Day immediately following the Calculation Date, the Calculation Agent shall notify the
Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Noteholders and such other parties as may be specified in the Final Terms
of the Make-whole Redemption Amount. All Notes in respect of which any such notice referred to in sub-
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(e)

paragraph (ii) above is given shall be redeemed on the relevant Make-whole Redemption Date in
accordance with this Condition.

For the purposes of this Condition, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms
shall have the meanings set out below:

“‘Benchmark Rate” means the average of the fou